
           
  
 

  
  Addison City Council Meeting

December 9, 2025
Addison Town Hall

15600 Addison Road
Addison, Texas 75001

AMENDED: 12/4 at 11:47 am - Addition of Updated Applicant
Summary to IC Items #6c and #6d

 

           

Email comments may be submitted using the Public Comment Form located on Addison's website by
3:00 PM on the meeting day. The meeting will be live-streamed at www.addisontx.gov. 

WORK SESSION
The Addison City Council will convene in the Town Hall Work Session Room beginning at 5:30 PM.
 

1. Call Meeting to Order and Announce that a Quorum is Present.   
 

2. Public Comment. The City Council invites citizens to address the City Council on any
matter, including items on the agenda, except public hearings that are included on the
agenda. Comments related to Public Hearings will be heard when the specific hearing
starts. Citizen comments are limited to three (3) minutes, unless otherwise required by law.
To address the Council, please fill out a City Council Appearance Card and submit it to a
staff member prior to the Public Comment item on the agenda. The Council is not permitted
to take any action or discuss any item not listed on the agenda. The Council may choose to
place the item on a future agenda.

  

 

3. Council Member Clarification Requests Regarding Consent Agenda Items.   
 

a. Council Questions & Answers. 
 
4. Closed Meeting. The Addison City Council will enter a Closed Meeting pursuant to Texas

Government Code Sections 551-071 through 090 to discuss the following item(s):
  

 

a. Pursuant to Section 551.074 (a) (1) Personnel Matters to deliberate the appointment,
employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline or dismissal of a public officer or
employee - 

Annual City Manager Evaluation
 

b. Pursuant to Section 551.087(1): Economic Development Negotiations to discuss or



b. Pursuant to Section 551.087(1): Economic Development Negotiations to discuss or
deliberate regarding commercial or financial information that the governmental body has
received from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, stay,
or expand in or near the territory of the governmental body and with which the governmental
body is conducting economic development negotiations: 

Project Rushmore
 
5. Open Meeting. In accordance with Texas Government Code Chapter 551, the Addison City

Council will reconvene in an Open Meeting to consider action, if any, on the matters
discussed in the Closed Meeting.

  

 

6. Work Session Reports   
 

a. Present and discuss updates to ordinances regarding taxicabs and sleeping in public and
the addition of a new ordinance to address parking issues at the Police and Courts facility
and Fire Station 1.

 
b. Present and discuss the 2026 City Council Events Calendar. 

 
c. Present and discuss the City Council Rules and Procedures. 

 

COUNCIL MEETING
The Addison City Council will convene for a Council Meeting beginning at 7:00 PM in the Council
Chambers.
 

1. Pledge of Allegiance. United States and Texas Flags   
 

2. Proclamations / Presentations   
 

a. City Manager's Announcements.
 

b. Employee Recognition. 
 

c. Town of Addison 2025 Citizens Academy Recognition. 
 

d. Salvation Army of Dallas County Red Kettle Campaign Proclamation.
 
3. Public Comment. The City Council invites citizens to address the City Council on any

matter, including items on the agenda, except public hearings that are included on the
agenda. Comments related to Public Hearings will be heard when the specific hearing
starts. Citizen comments are limited to three (3) minutes, unless otherwise required by law.
To address the Council, please fill out a City Council Appearance Card and submit it to a
staff member prior to the Public Comment item on the agenda. The Council is not permitted
to take any action or discuss any item not listed on the agenda. The Council may choose to

  



place the item on a future agenda.
 

4. Consent Agenda. All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered routine by the
City Council and will be enacted by one motion with no individual consideration. If individual
consideration of an item is requested, it will be pulled from the Consent Agenda and
discussed separately.

  

 

a. Consider action on the Minutes from the November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting. 
 

b. Consider action on a Resolution approving an Economic Development Program Grant
Agreement with LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC including a capital improvement grant in an
amount not to exceed $50,000 and a performance-based grant representing 50% of the
excess tax revenue above the 2024 baseline up to $200,000; and authorizing the City
Manager to execute the agreement.

 
5. Public Hearings.   
 

a. Hold a public hearing, present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution approving the
financing and refinancing of a project for the development of airport facilities at the Addison
Airport solely for the purpose of Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and Section 66.0304(11)(A) of the Wisconsin Statutes, as amended.

 
6. Items for Individual Consideration.   
 

a. Present, discuss, and consider action on a request for an Alternative Sign Design to Article
5 of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDC) for Jefferson Aero, a new multi-family
complex located at 4800 Airport Parkway, in order to allow a detached monument sign to
exceed the maximum height. (Case MR2025-02/4800 Airport Parkway).

 
b. Present, discuss, and consider action on a request for an Alternative Sign Design to Article

5 of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDC) for Quorum II shopping center, located at
4900 Belt Line Road, in order to allow a detached monument sign to exceed the maximum
height and maximum area. (Case MR2025-03/4900 Belt Line Road).

 
c. Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution nominating four (4) citizens to serve

on the Planning & Zoning Commission for two-year terms commencing January 1, 2026,
and providing an effective date.

 
d. Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution nominating four (4) citizens to serve

on the Board of Zoning Adjustment for two-year terms commencing January 1, 2026, and
providing an effective date.

 
e. Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution casting the Town of Addison's

allocated votes for a Suburban Cities Representative to the Dallas Central Appraisal District
Board of Directors.

 



7. Items of Community Interest. The City Council will have this opportunity to address items
of community interest, including: expressions of thanks, congratulations, or condolence;
information regarding holiday schedules; an honorary or salutary recognition; a reminder
about an upcoming event organized or sponsored by the Town of Addison; information
regarding a social, ceremonial, or community event that was or will be attended by an
Addison City Council member or an official; and, announcements involving an eminent
threat to public health and safety in Addison that has arisen since posting this agenda.

  

 

8. Adjourn Meeting.   
 

NOTE: The City Council reserves the right to meet in a Closed Meeting at any time during this
meeting to discuss matters listed on the agenda, as authorized by the Texas Open Meetings Act,
Texas Government Code, Chapter 551. Any decision held on such matters will be conducted in an
Open Meeting following the conclusion of the Closed Meeting. 

THE TOWN OF ADDISON IS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. PLEASE CALL
(972) 450-7017 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE IF YOU NEED ASSISTANCE.

Posted by: Valencia Garcia, City Secretary
Date posted: December 3, 2025    Time posted: 4:49 PM
Date removed from bulletin board: ______________________
Removed by: _______________________________________
 



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 3. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager

AGENDA CAPTION:
Council Questions & Answers.

BACKGROUND:
The Council Questions and Answers document, along with any handout(s) provided during the
meeting, will be attached below. Due to the requirement to post the agenda prior to these attachments
being created, the Council Questions and Answers document will be uploaded just prior to the meeting.
Any handouts presented during the meeting will be added on the next business day.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Information only.



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 4. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager

AGENDA CAPTION:
Pursuant to Section 551.074 (a) (1) Personnel Matters to deliberate the appointment, employment,
evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline or dismissal of a public officer or employee -

Annual City Manager Evaluation

BACKGROUND:
N/A

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
N/A



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 4. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: Economic Development
Key Focus Areas: Economic Development and Revitalization

AGENDA CAPTION:
Pursuant to Section 551.087(1): Economic Development Negotiations to discuss or deliberate
regarding commercial or financial information that the governmental body has received from a business
prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, stay, or expand in or near the territory of the
governmental body and with which the governmental body is conducting economic development
negotiations: 

Project Rushmore

BACKGROUND:
N/A

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
N/A



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: Police
Key Focus Areas: Public Safety

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present and discuss updates to ordinances regarding taxicabs and sleeping in public and the addition
of a new ordinance to address parking issues at the Police and Courts facility and Fire Station 1.

BACKGROUND:
The following ordinances were identified by staff as needing updates, revisions, or creation to enhance
public safety: 

Repeal of the current Taxicab Ordinance (Chapter 86 - Vehicles for Hire, Article II - Taxicabs,
Limousines, and Shuttles) — The number of permits issued by the Town has steadily declined
over the past decade due to the increasing popularity of app-based ride-sharing services that are
not subject to the Town’s permit regulations. The cost of administering permit applications
currently exceeds the fees collected for the permits issued.
Update the current Sleeping in Public Ordinance (Chapter 58 - Parks and Recreation, Article II,
Use of Public Parks) — The ordinance was adopted 40 years ago and includes language that is
vague and overly broad. The revised language will address camping and sleeping on any property
owned, managed, or controlled by the Town, including parks, and will prohibit camping on private
property without permission from the owner or lessee.
Creation of a new ordinance limiting parking at the Police and Courts facility, located at 4799
Airport Parkway, and Fire Station 1, located at 4798 Airport Parkway — Currently, there are not
enough parking spaces available at the Police and Courts building on many days of the week.
Non-PD, Court, and FD users use the parking lot for service at other facilities, creating parking
issues for employees and citizens seeking police, court, or fire department services. The new
ordinance would establish two-hour visitor parking spaces and prohibit parking at these locations
unless for official business.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Staff requests Council direction on proposed updates to current ordinances and the proposed new
ordinance.

Attachments
Presentation - PD Ordinance Updates 

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA


December 9, 2025

Chris Freis, Police Chief

1

PD Ordinances Updates
Repeal of Taxicab Ordinance 

Updated Sleeping in Public Ordinance
New Parking at Certain Buildings Ordinance



1. Repeal of Taxicab Ordinance

2

Current Ordinance: Chapter 86 – Vehicles for Hire, Article II – Taxicabs, Limousines, and 
Shuttles

Challenges with the current ordinance:

• Current ordinance was adopted more than 40 years ago.

• Rideshare apps are much more common than taxicabs.

• Less than 10 permits are issued per year.

• Staff spends more money printing the permits than what is collected in fees.

Staff Recommendation: Repeal current taxicab ordinance.

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH86VEHI


2. Updated Sleeping in Public Ordinance

3

Current Ordinance: Chapter 58 – Parks and Recreation, Article II – Use of Public Parks

Challenges with Current Ordinance

• Current ordinance was adopted more than 40 years ago.

• The City Attorney reported concerns with the vagueness of the current ordinance.

• Public camping has become an increasing problem in the area.

Updated Language

• Prohibits camping and sleeping on any property owned, managed, and / or controlled by the Town, 
including parks.

• Prohibits camping and sleeping on any private property without first obtaining permission from the owner or 
lessee.

Staff Recommendation: Adopt an updated ordinance that regulates sleeping and camping in public.

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH58PARE_ARTIIUSPUPA


3. New Ordinance – Parking at PD / Courts and FS #1

4

Current Challenges

• There are not enough parking spaces available at the Police and Courts building on many days of the week.

• Non-PD, Courts, and FD users are parking at these buildings and walking to other nearby buildings.

New Ordinance 

• Creates 2-hour visitor parking spaces.

• Creates an offense to park at the Police and Courts building or Fire Station 1 unless conducting official 
business inside that building.

Staff Recommendation: Adopt a new ordinance that regulates parking at the Police and Courts building and 
Fire Station 1.



Direction Requested and Next Steps

5

Council direction is requested on the following:

1. Repeal of Taxicab Ordinance.
2. Update of Sleeping in Public Ordinance
3. Creation of a new Ordinance to regulate parking at the Police and Courts Building and Fire Station 1.

Next Steps:

If approved, staff will bring these items back to Council on Consent for adoption.



Questions?

6



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Secretary 
Key Focus Areas: Financial Health and Organizational Excellence

Community Engagement

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present and discuss the 2026 City Council Events Calendar.

BACKGROUND:
In order to help the City Council adequately prepare for the new year, staff has prepared a calendar of
events for the City Council's consideration covering calendar year 2026. This calendar includes City
Council meetings, Town events, and external events.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Information only.

Attachments
Presentation - 2026 City Council Calendar 
2026 City Council Calendar 



2026 City Council 
Calendar
December 9, 2025

Valencia Garcia, City Secretary

1



2026 City Council Calendar 

2



2026 City Council Calendar 

3



2026 City Council Calendar 

4



2026 City Council Calendar 

5



2026 City Council Calendar 

6



2026 City Council Calendar 

7



2026 City Council Calendar 

8



2026 City Council Calendar 

9



2026 City Council Calendar 

10



2026 City Council Calendar 

11



2026 City Council Calendar 

12



2026 City Council Calendar 

13



Questions?

14



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
28 29 30 31 1 2 3 Council Meetings

Town Holiday - 
New Year's Day

January 6 - City Council Work Session Meeting                            
January 13 - Regular City Council Meeting                           
January 27 - Regular City Council Meeting                                 
January 30 - City Council Strategic Planning Retreat

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
City Council Work 
Session Meeting

January 20 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 Town Holidays
Regular City 
Council Meeting

May 2026 Election 
- First Day to File

January 1 - New Year's Day                                                  
January 19 - Martin Luther King Jr. Day 

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 Town Events
Town Holiday - 
MLK Jr. Day

P&Z Commission 
Meeting

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 Important Dates
Regular City 
Council Meeting

City Council 
Strategic Planning 
Retreat

January 14 - First Day to File for the May 2026 Election

january



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Council Meetings

City Council Work 
Session Meeting

February 3 - City Council Work Session Meeting                          
Februrary 10 - Regular City Council Meeting                     
February 24 - Regular City Council Meeting

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings

Regular City 
Council Meeting

 May 2026 Election 
Filing Deadline

February 17 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 Town Holidays
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 Town Events
Regular City 
Council Meeting

Important Dates

February 13 - May 2026 Election Filing Deadline

february



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Council Meetings

Spring Town 
Meeting

March 10 - Regular City Council Meeting                                      
March 24 - Regular City Council Meeting

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
Regular City 
Council Meeting

March 17 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 Town Holidays
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 Town Events
Regular City 
Council Meeting

March 3 - Spring Town Meeting

29 30 31 1 2 3 4 Important Dates

march



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
29 30 31 1 2 3 4 Council Meetings

April 7 - City Council Work Session Meeting                                 
April 14 - Regular City Council Meeting                                     
April 28 - Regular City Council Meeting

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
City Council Work 
Session Meeting

April 21 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 Town Holidays
Regular City Council 

Meeting
Taste Addison 2026 Taste Addison 2026

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 Town Events

Taste Addison 2026
May 2026 Election 
- Early Voting 
Begins

P&Z Commission 
Meeting

April 17 - 19 - Taste Addison 2026

26 27 28 29 30 1 2 Important Dates
Regular City Council 
Meeting / May 2026 

Election - Early 
Voting Ends

April 20 - 28 - May 2026 Election Early Voting

april



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
26 27 28 29 30 1 2 Council Meetings

May 2026 Election 
Day

May 5 - City Council Work Session Meeting                                  
May 12 - Special City Council Meeting - May 2026 Election  
May 26 - Regular City Council Meeting

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
City Council Work 
Session Meeting

May 19 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 Town Holidays
Special City Council 
Meeting - May 
2026 Election

May 25 - Memorial Day

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 Town Events
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 Important Dates
Town Holiday - 
Memorial Day

Regular City 
Council Meeting

May 2 - May 2026 Election Day

31 1 2 3 4 5 6

may



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
31 1 2 3 4 5 6 Council Meetings

City Council Work 
Session Meeting

June 2 - City Council Work Session Meeting                                 
June 9 - Regular City Council Meeting                                    
June 23 - Regular City Council Meeting

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
Regular City 
Council Meeting

June 16 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 Town Holidays
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

Town Holiday - 
Juneteenth

June 19 - Juneteenth

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 Town Events
Regular City 
Council Meeting

28 29 30 1 2 3 4 Important Dates

june



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
28 29 30 1 2 3 4 Council Meetings

2026 Addison 
Kaboom Town! / 
Town Holiday - 
Independence 
Day (Observed)

July 7 - City Council Work Session Meeting                              
July 14 - Regular City Council Meeting                                        
July 28 - Regular City Council Meeting

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
City Council Work 
Session Meeting

July 21 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 Town Holidays
Regular City Council 

Meeting
July 3 - Independence Day (Observed)

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 Town Events
P&Z Commission 

Meeting
July 3 - 2026 Addison Kaboom Town!            

26 27 28 29 30 31 1 Important Dates
Regular City Council 

Meeting

july



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
26 27 28 29 30 31 1 Council Meetings

August 4-5 - FY27 Budget Workshop (proposed date)                 
August 11 - Regular City Council Meeting                               
August 25 - Regular City Council Meeting

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
City Council Work 
Session Meeting - 
FY27 Budget

City Council Work 
Session Meeting - 
FY27 Budget

August 18 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 Town Holidays
Regular City 
Council Meeting

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 Town Events
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 Important Dates
Regular City 
Council Meeting

30 31 1 2 3 4 5

august



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
30 31 1 2 3 4 5 Council Meetings

Special City 
Council Meeting - 
FY 2027 Budget

September 1 - Special City Council Meeting (FY 2027 Budget)   
September 8 - Regular City Council Meeting                              
September 22 - Regular City Council Meeting

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
Town Holiday - 
Labor Day

Regular City 
Council Meeting

September 15 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 Town Holidays
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

Addison 
Oktoberfest 2026

Addison 
Oktoberfest 2026

Addison 
Oktoberfest 2026

September 7 - Labor Day

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 Town Events
Addison 

Oktoberfest 2026
Regular City 
Council Meeting

September 17 - 20 - Addison Oktoberfest 2026

27 28 29 30 1 2 3 Important Dates

september



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
27 28 29 30 1 2 3 Council Meetings

October 6 - City Council Work Session Meeting                           
October 13 - Regular City Council Meeting                         
October 27 - Regular City Council Meeting

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
City Council Work 
Session Meeting

October 20 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 Town Holidays
Regular City 
Council Meeting

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 Town Events
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

Fall Town Meeting October 22 - Fall Town Meeting

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 Important Dates
Regular City 
Council Meeting

october



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Council Meetings

City Council Work 
Session Meeting

November 3 - City Council Work Session Meeting                     
November 10 - Regular City Council Meeting                              

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings

Regular City Council 
Meeting

Town Holiday - 
Veterans Day / 
2026 TML 
Conference 
Begins - San 
Antonio, TX

2026 TML 
Conference Ends - 
San Antonio, TX

November 17 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 Town Holidays
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

November 11 - Veterans Day                                           
November 26 - 27 - Thanksgiving

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 Town Events
Town Holiday - 
Thanksgiving

Town Holiday - 
Thanksgiving

29 30 1 2 3 4 5 Important Dates

November 11 - 13 - 2026 TML Conference (San Antonio, TX)

november



2026
 

sun mon tue wed thu fri sat
29 30 1 2 3 4 5 Council Meetings

City Council Work 
Session Meeting

December 1 - City Council Work Session Meeting                        
December 8 - Regular City Council Meeting                   

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings
Regular City 
Council Meeting

December 15 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 Town Holidays
P&Z Commission 
Meeting

December 24 - Christmas Eve                                              
December 25 - Christmas Day

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 Town Events
Town Holiday - 
Christmas Eve

Town Holiday - 
Christmas Day

27 28 29 30 31 1 2 Important Dates

december



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Secretary 
Key Focus Areas: Financial Health and Organizational Excellence

Community Engagement

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present and discuss the City Council Rules and Procedures.

BACKGROUND:
At a previous City Council Work Session, the City Council requested that staff bring forward a Work
Session to discuss the City Council Rules and Procedures. This document standardizes procedures
and processes regarding the following: 

City Council Meeting Types
City Council Meeting Agendas
City Council Meeting Procedures
Citizen Participation at Meetings
City Council Code of Conduct
Council and Staff Relations
Council and Media Relations

This document is reviewed on a regular basis and at the request of the City Council. The most recent
updates occurred in 2017 and 2024. 

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Staff requests City Council direction on the City Council Rules and Procedures:

1. Keep the City Council Rules and Procedures as is with no updates.
2. Make updates to the City Council Rules and Procedures to be adopted via Resolution at a future City
Council Meeting. 

Attachments
Presentation - City Council Rules & Procedures 
City Council Rules & Procedures 



City Council Rules and 
Procedures

1

December 9, 2025

Valencia Garcia, City Secretary



Background 
• The City Council Rules and Procedures standardizes procedures and processes regarding the 

following:
o City Council Meeting Types
o City Council Meeting Agendas
o City Council Meeting Procedures
o Citizen Participation at Meetings
o City Council Code of Conduct
o Council and Staff Relations
o Council and Media Relations

• The most recent updates occurred in 2017 and 2024.

• At a previous Council Work Session, City Council requested that staff bring forward a Work 
Session to discuss the Council Rules and Procedures.

2



Summary
Section 1 – Meetings
Outlines the different types of City Council Meetings, when they occur and how they are called. 

• Regular Meetings 
• Special Meetings 
• Work Session Meetings

Section 2 – Agendas 
Sets procedures for City Council Meeting Agendas including:

• Agenda item requests and meeting agenda development
• Posted agenda packet distribution to Council
• Compliance with Open Meetings Act

3



Section 3 – Council Meeting Procedures:
Serves as a general guide for meetings utilizing parliamentary procedure.

• Mayor’s responsibilities as the presiding officer
• Agenda item presentations

o Council questions and discussion
o Motion and voting procedure

• Closed Session procedures
• Remote attendance guidelines for City Council meetings

Section 4 – Citizen Participation at Meetings:
Sets guidelines for citizens choosing to participate in City Council Meetings.

• Opportunities for public comment
o In-person verbal comments
o Written public comments

4

Summary



Section 5 – Code of Conduct for Mayor and Council Members:
Establishes a code of conduct based on the Town’s Code of Ethics. 

• States that the Mayor and Council should abide by the Town’s Code of Ethics as noted in 
the Town’s Code of Ordinances and all applicable laws.

• Conflict of Interest Affidavits and procedures for votes presenting conflicts of interest.

5

Summary

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIIIOFEM_DIV2COET


Next Steps

Staff is seeking Council direction to: 

1. Confirm the Council Rules & Procedures as is with no updates; or

2. Request updates to be made to the Council Rules & Procedures.
• To be drafted and adopted via Resolution at a future Council meeting.

6



Questions?

7



Addison, Texas, City Council Rules & Procedures 
Page 1 of 5 

 
CITY COUNCIL RULES & PROCEDURES 

 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING PROCEDURES 

 
SECTION 1.  MEETINGS 
 
 

A. Regular Meetings will generally be held on the second and fourth Tuesday of each 
month.  Meetings will be held at a posted location commencing at 7:00 p.m., unless 
otherwise posted. 
 
B. Special Meetings are subject to call by the Mayor, City Manager, or three members 
of the City Council with written notice to the City Secretary.  These meetings will be held 
at a posted location at a stated time. 
 
C. Work Session Meetings are subject to call by the Mayor, City Manager, or three 
members of the City Council with written notice to the City Secretary.  The time, place, 
and purpose will be stated in each instance.  Ordinarily, no official Council action will be 
taken at a work session meeting.  
 

SECTIONS 2.  AGENDAS 
 
The following procedures relate to the agenda for meetings of the Council. 
 

A. The City Manager, working with the Mayor, will determine what items of business 
should come before the Council.  If, at a meeting of the Council, a member of the Council 
(i.e., the Mayor and each Council member) or the public inquiries about a subject for which 
notice has not been given as required by law, only the following may be provided unless 
otherwise allowed by law:  (1) a statement of specific factual information given in response 
to the inquiry, or (2) a recitation of existing policy in response to the inquiry.  Unless 
otherwise allowed by law, any deliberation of or decision about the subject of such inquiry 
shall be limited to a proposal to place the subject on the agenda for a subsequent meeting. 
 
B. An item will be placed on the agenda at the request of two or more Council 
members.  The City Manager will place the item on the agenda as soon as applicable. The 
Council members requesting the agenda item may present or participate in the presentation 
of the item at the meeting.  Any Town staff assistance should be requested through the City 
Manager’s Office.  Such agenda items must reach the City Manager’s office at Town Hall 
by 1:00 p.m., Tuesday, of the week preceding the meeting for which the request is made. 
 
C. The agenda packets for all Regular Meetings will be delivered electronically by 
Town staff to members of the Council no later than the Thursday preceding the meetings. 
 
D. The City Secretary’s office is responsible for seeing that notices for all meetings of 
the Council comply with the Open Meetings Law. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 47533626-FF68-49C9-A38E-DB1EE948FD97



Addison, Texas, City Council Rules & Procedures 
Page 2 of 5 

 
SECTION 3.  COUNCIL MEETING PROCEDURES 
 
The Council will use the following procedures as a general guide for parliamentary procedure and 
may consult Robert’s Rules of Order as a guide in instances not addressed by these procedures. 
 

A. The Mayor shall be the presiding officer at all meetings.  The Mayor Pro-Tempore 
shall preside at meetings in the absence of the Mayor, and the Deputy Mayor Pro-Tempore 
shall preside at meetings in the absence of the Mayor and Mayor Pro-Tempore. The term 
Mayor shall be interpreted to mean the presiding officer when applicable throughout these 
City Council Procedures. 
 
B. The Mayor shall have a voice in all matters before the Council and may vote on all 
matters. 
 
C. When an item is presented to the Council, the Mayor shall recognize the 
presenter(s) and the order of presentation. During City Council discussion of an item, the 
Mayor shall recognize members of the Council who desire to ask questions or speak on an 
item. When two or more members desire to speak on an item, the Mayor shall choose which 
member is to speak first.  
 
D. Each member of the Council, including the Mayor, will be given an opportunity to 
ask questions following presentation of an agenda item.  Then, members shall be given the 
opportunity to ask additional questions in the same manner until no member has additional 
questions.  
 
E. During the Council’s discussion of an item, each member will be given a reasonable 
amount of time to speak until all members have had an opportunity to ask questions. 
Following the initial round of discussion, the Mayor shall recognize a member desiring to 
make a motion. If a motion is made and seconded, the discussion of the motion, if any, 
shall follow the procedure outlined above. If no motion is made, the discussion will 
continue in the same manner outlined above until discussion on the item has concluded. 
The procedure described herein is intended to give each member a timely opportunity to 
speak and to avoid one member monopolizing the floor for an extended period of time 
before others have an opportunity to speak. 
 
F. The Mayor shall preserve order and shall require Council members engaged in 
debate to limit discussion to the question under consideration.  Members of the Council 
shall not interrupt or delay proceedings and shall not refuse to obey the orders of the Mayor 
or the rules of the Council.  Members of the Council shall demonstrate respect and courtesy 
to each other, Town staff members, and citizens appearing before the Council. 

 
G. The Mayor will give all members of the Council a full opportunity to speak on an 
item; provided, the Mayor may reasonably limit the time for discussion on any item as the 
Mayor deems appropriate based upon the circumstances. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 47533626-FF68-49C9-A38E-DB1EE948FD97



Addison, Texas, City Council Rules & Procedures 
Page 3 of 5 

H. Every member of the Council shall vote on all matters before the Council 
whereupon the Mayor has called for a final vote unless a member abstains from the vote 
due to a conflict of interest or other legal basis for abstention following the procedures for 
abstention set forth in Section 5.   
 
I. Should a conflict arise between Council members during a meeting, the Mayor  
shall serve as the mediator. If the Mayor is a part of the conflict, the Council shall determine 
the procedure to conclude the matter.  

J. The Council may convene into closed (executive) session in connection with any 
Regular, Special or Work Session meeting in conformance with the rules governing closed 
meetings set forth in Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.  Prior to convening into 
closed session the Mayor shall (i) announce the applicable statutory exception(s) 
authorizing the closed session, (ii) identify the general purpose or subject matter to be 
discussed during the closed session to the extent permitted by law, and (iii) state the time 
in which the Council is convening into closed session. 

K. Members of the Council may attend a meeting remotely when a member is unable 
to attend the meeting in-person, provided, the member’s remote attendance is able to be 
administered in full conformance with Section 551.127 of the Texas Government Code and 
all applicable IT policies adopted by the Town.  Each remote location from which a 
member participates, must have an internet connection that is of sufficient quality to ensure 
a continuous, live two-way audio and video communication with all other members of the 
Council during the entire meeting. While speaking, a member attending remotely must be 
clearly visible and audible to all other members of the Council and the public (except 
during a closed session).  If a member intends on attending a closed session remotely, the 
member shall coordinate with the City Manager’s office in advance to ensure that the 
remote location and connection are able to comply with all applicable security 
requirements. 

L. Any Council member may ask the Mayor to enforce the procedures established by the 
Council. Should the Mayor fail to do so, a majority of the Council may direct the Mayor to enforce 
the procedures.  

M. All personal communication devices should be placed in a silent mode during any 
City Council meetings. Personal communication devices shall not be used for 
communicating with other Council Members during any City Council meetings as that is 
a violation of the Texas Open Meetings Act.   

 
SECTION 4.  CITIZEN PARTICIPATION AT MEETINGS 
  

A. As a general rule, persons attending a meeting of the Council may not participate 
in the discussions of the Council. 
 
B. If an item is identified on the agenda of a Council meeting as a public hearing, 
persons attending the Council meeting will be given the opportunity to speak regarding the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 47533626-FF68-49C9-A38E-DB1EE948FD97



Addison, Texas, City Council Rules & Procedures 
Page 4 of 5 

item after being recognized by the Mayor.  The person(s) representing the applicant for an 
item presented during a public hearing will generally be allowed ten (10) minutes to present 
the item (exclusive of the time allowed for questions from the Council).  Members of the 
public desiring to speak on an item during the public hearing will generally be allowed 
three (3) minutes to speak on the item.  
 
C. Email or written comments that have not been requested to be part of the record 
will be acknowledged during the meeting but not read into the record. Email or written 
comments that have been requested to be part of the record will be attached to the minutes 
of the respective meeting.  

 
 

CITY COUNCIL GENERAL PROCEDURES 
 
SECTION 5.  CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

A. The Mayor and Council members should comply with the Town’s Code of Ethics 
(included in Chapter 2, Article III, Division 2 of the Town’s Code of Ordinances and 
attached hereto as Appendix A) and with all conflict of interest laws. 
 
B. In accordance with the Town’s Code of Ethics and with applicable law, the Mayor 
and Council members shall abstain from participating in or voting on items in which they 
have a conflict of interest as set forth in the Code of Ethics or applicable law.  If the Mayor 
or a Council member has such a conflict of interest, they shall file a “Conflict of Interest 
Affidavit” with the City Secretary’s office.  Upon introduction of the agenda item in which 
the Mayor or Council member has a conflict of interest, the Mayor or Council member 
should announce that they have a conflict of interest and must refrain from participation in 
or voting on the agenda item, and shall be required to leave the meeting room.  
 
C. The Mayor and Council members are encouraged to conduct themselves above 
reproach. In the event that the Mayor or a Council member determines that it is necessary 
to abstain from participating in a matter to avoid a perceived conflict of interest or to avoid 
the appearance of impropriety, as soon as the individual member makes such a 
determination, the member shall declare the nature of the matter causing the abstention, 
abstain from participation in the matter and leave the meeting room.  

 
SECTION 6.  COUNCIL AND STAFF RELATIONS 
 

A. Members of the Council should attempt to ask questions to the City Manager about 
the Council agenda packet issued for a Council meeting prior to the meeting.  This will 
allow the Town staff time to respond to the Council member’s questions and, if necessary, 
to provide additional information to all members of the Council. 
 
B. The City Manager shall designate the appropriate Town staff member to address 
each agenda item and shall see that each presentation informs the Council on the issues 
which require Council action.  The presentations should be professional and timely, and 
should list options available for resolving any issue. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 47533626-FF68-49C9-A38E-DB1EE948FD97



Addison, Texas, City Council Rules & Procedures 
Page 5 of 5

C. The City Manager is directly responsible for providing information to all members
of the Council concerning any inquiries by a specific member of the Council.  Should the
City Manager find that staff’s time is being dominated by a single member, the City
Manager should inform the Mayor of the concern.

D. If the Mayor or a Council member seeks a written legal opinion from the City
Attorney in connection with an item on a meeting agenda the City Attorney's legal opinion
shall be provided to all members of the Council.

E. In the event of a conflict between the staff and the Council, the Mayor will speak
with the City Manager regarding the conflict but will not address the conflict directly
with any staff member. The City Manager will then address the matter with the appropriate
staff member(s) and update the Mayor and Council as appropriate. If the conflict is between
a staff member and the Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tempore will speak with the City Manager.

F. The City Manager is responsible for the professional and ethical behavior of
themself and their staff. The City Manager is also responsible for seeing that staff remains
educated and informed on the issues facing municipal government.

G. All members of the Council and Town staff members shall show respect and
courtesy to each other and citizens at all times.

H. The City Manager is responsible for seeing that all newly (first time) elected
members of the Council are provided with a thorough orientation on Town staff
procedures, municipal facilities, and other information of interest to municipal officials.

SECTION 7.  COUNCIL AND MEDIA RELATIONS 

A. A link to published agendas will be provided upon request to all interested news
media in advance of the Council meetings.

B. Official responses to media inquiries concerning Town matters will be made as
determined by the Mayor and the City Manager.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 47533626-FF68-49C9-A38E-DB1EE948FD97



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 2. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager

AGENDA CAPTION:
City Manager's Announcements.

BACKGROUND:
The City Manager will make announcements of interest to the Town.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Information only.



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 2. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager

AGENDA CAPTION:
Employee Recognition.

BACKGROUND:
The City Manager will recognize an employee for his/her service to the Town.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Information only.



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 2. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager

AGENDA CAPTION:
Town of Addison 2025 Citizens Academy Recognition.

BACKGROUND:
The Addison Citizens Academy offers Addison residents a unique opportunity to gain insight into their
town's governance and operations. This year, we recognize 12 residents who engaged in a series of
sessions designed to provide a comprehensive understanding of municipal functions facilitated by
tours, activities, and direct interaction with Town leaders and staff.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
N/A



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 2. d.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager

AGENDA CAPTION:
Salvation Army of Dallas County Red Kettle Campaign Proclamation.

BACKGROUND:
Nearly 300 people of all ages dedicated to volunteering their time, talents, and resources to meet
human needs without discrimination through The Salvation Army of Dallas County. These volunteers
are critical partners in helping fulfill their promise to America of “Doing the Most Good. In Dallas, the
Salvation Army provides important services to the community, including a 400-bed shelter for men and
women, a 150-bed emergency overnight shelter for those in our community experiencing
homelessness, additional support for men, women, and children experiencing poverty, victim services
program for victims of domestic violence and sex trafficking and a food pantry for those who are
experiencing hunger within our community.
 
Provision of these services is made possible through the financial support of local citizens who give
through various channels, one of which is The Salvation Army’s annual Red Kettle campaign. To reach
their Red Kettle goal of $100,000 for this year’s holiday campaign, the Salvation Army of Dallas County
is seeking volunteers to fill the more than 1,000 two-hour shifts as bell ringers.
 
Mayor Arfsten will proclaim the 2025 holiday season in Addison as “The Season to Give with Joy to the
Salvation Army” and urge all citizens to go to RegisterToRing.com and pick a day, time, and location to
volunteer as a bell ringer for The Salvation Army between Thanksgiving and Christmas.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
N/A



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 4. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Secretary 

AGENDA CAPTION:
Consider action on the Minutes from the November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting.

BACKGROUND:
The minutes for the November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting have been prepared for
consideration.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Minutes - November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting 



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 1 of 11 
 

D R A F T 
OFFICIAL ACTIONS OF THE  

ADDISON CITY COUNCIL 
 

November 18, 2025 
 

Addison Town Hall 
15600 Addison Road, Addison, TX 75001 

5:30 PM Work Session – Town Hall Work Session Room 
7:00 PM Regular Meeting – Town Hall City Council Chambers 

 
Present: Mayor Bruce Arfsten; Mayor Pro-Tempore Marlin Willesen; Deputy Mayor Pro-

Tempore Chris DeFrancisco; Council Member Howard Freed; Council Member 
Darren Gardner; Council Member Dan Liscio; Council Member Randy Smith 

  

WORK SESSION 
 
The Addison City Council will convene in the Town Hall Work Session Room at 5:30 PM. 
 

 
1. Call Meeting to Order and Announce that a Quorum is Present. 
 
Mayor Arfsten called the meeting to order in the Town Hall Work Session Room at 5:35 PM. 
 
2. Public Comment. The City Council invites citizens to address the City Council on any matter, 

including items on the agenda, except public hearings that are included on the agenda. Comments related 
to Public Hearings will be heard when the specific hearing starts. Citizen comments are limited to three (3) 
minutes, unless otherwise required by law. To address the Council, please fill out a City Council 
Appearance Card and submit it to a staff member prior to the Public Comment item on the agenda. The 
Council is not permitted to take any action or discuss any item not listed on the agenda. The Council may 
choose to place the item on a future agenda. 

 
The following citizens requested to speak during the Public Comment period: 
 

• Tyler Wright, 15725 Artist Way – stated the importance of the upcoming decisions to be 
made regarding DART and the Town’s proposed new Comprehensive Plan, Advance 
Addison 2050, noting that both will have an impact on the region. Mr. Wright urged the 
Council to have important conversations on both items.  

• Curtis Green, 15800 Spectrum Drive – expressed concern regarding DART cities 
considering an election to withdraw from DART, noting that proposed transportation 
alternatives are not sufficient or cost-effective.  



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 2 of 11 
 

 
3. Council Member Clarification Requests Regarding Consent Agenda Items. 
 

a. Council Questions and Answers 
 
4. Work Session Reports 
 

a. Present and discuss the new Comprehensive Plan, Advance Addison 2050, which 
will replace the 2013 Comprehensive Plan, but maintain special area plans, as 
amended; establishing policy goals for land use, housing, transportation, 
economic development and community facilities. 
[Director of Development & Neighborhood Services, Lesley Nyp] 
 

Director of Development & Neighborhood Services Lesley Nyp presented an update on the new 
Comprehensive Plan, Advance Addison. 
 
The Advance Addison 2050 Comprehensive Plan (AA2050) is a transformative, long-range 
planning initiative designed to guide the Town’s growth, development, and community character 
through the year 2050. This plan is intended to ensure Addison remains vibrant, adaptable, and 
fiscally responsible, addressing the evolving needs of residents, businesses, and stakeholders. 
This plan reflects a two-year process of research, engagement, and strategic visioning. 
 
The AA2050 project was formally initiated in August 2023, when the City Council approved 
a professional services agreement with Verdunity, a planning and fiscal analysis consultant. This 
action followed recognition of the need to update Addison’s comprehensive plan to address new 
growth opportunities, redevelopment challenges, and the desire to optimize the Town’s brand 
and identity. The Council’s direction emphasized a data-driven, community-focused approach, 
with a strong commitment to fiscal sustainability. In September 2023, City Council appointed a 
Comprehensive Plan Advisory Committee (CPAC), representing a cross-section of residents and 
businesses in Addison, to steer the project. 
 
The AA2050 plan addresses land use, housing, mobility, economic development, and public 
spaces, with a focus on preserving Addison’s character while accommodating growth. The plan 
incorporates policy recommendations for revitalizing aging commercial centers, improving 
connectivity, expanding housing options, and enhancing public spaces. It aligns with the Town’s 
strategic objectives and is designed to be actionable with implementation tracking and regular 
updates. 
 
Community engagement has been a cornerstone of the AA2050 process, ensuring the plan 
reflects the aspirations and concerns of Addison’s diverse stakeholders. Hundreds of comments 
and suggestions were received and integrated into the draft plan, demonstrating a strong 
commitment to transparency and inclusivity. Engagement strategies included: 
 

• Multiple rounds of community surveys both online and in-person. 
• Public meetings and open houses at key project phases. 
• Targeted outreach to underrepresented groups and business owners. 

https://agendas.addisontx.gov/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL&get_month=11&get_year=2025&dsp=agm&seq=4966&rev=0&ag=7105&ln=33338&nseq=&nrev=&pseq=4962&prev=0
https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/269868/9573
https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/272532/2465
https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/272532/2465


Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 3 of 11 
 

• Ongoing updates and opportunities for feedback via the Town’s website and social 
media. 

• CPAC serving as a sounding board and liaison between the community, Council, and 
staff. 

 
Following the public review of the plan draft, the project entered into the adoption phase, with 
review and recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of the plan at their October 21, 2025 
regular meeting. The final step of the adoption phase is review and consideration by City 
Council. 
 
After the plan is adopted, staff will begin implementation, including an online tracking website 
to ensure ongoing transparency and accountability. 
 
Additional information can be found on the project website, www.advanceaddison.com. 
 
City Council Direction: No specific feedback was requested. This update was provided for 
discussion and general feedback only. 
 

b. Present and discuss the operations and financial reconciliation for the 2025 
Addison Oktoberfest. 
[Director of Special Events & Theatre, Abby Morales] 
 

Director of Special Events & Theatre Abby Morales answered questions regarding the operations 
and financial reconciliation for the Addison Oktoberfest event held from September 18-21, 2025 
at Addison Circle Park. 
 
Addison Oktoberfest is a major festival produced annually by the Town that celebrates German 
culture, food, music and bier with a purely Texan twist. The event featured four days of polka, 
lederhosen and dirndls to support the local economy and promote tourism. The Special Events and 
Finance Departments prepared a report to share the marketing, operational, and financial outcomes 
for the event. Addison Oktoberfest is funded by the Hotel Fund and was included in the FY2025 
budget. 
 
City Council Direction: No specific feedback was requested. This update was provided for 
informational purposes only. 
 

c. Present and discuss the Town of Addison FY 2025 Fourth Quarter Financial 
Report. 
[Chief Financial Officer, Steven Glickman] 

 
Chief Financial Officer Steven Glickman answered questions regarding the Town’s FY 2025 
Fourth Quarter Financial Report. 
 
The Town of Addison's financial policies require the publication of a financial report 60 days after 
the end of the fiscal quarter. This report covered the financial performance through the fourth 

https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/358788/5052
http://www.advanceaddison.com/


Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 4 of 11 
 

quarter of FY 2025 (July 1, 2025 - September 30, 2025).  Included with the report is an executive 
dashboard that provides a high-level look at some of the key financial indicators along with more 
detailed exhibits that demonstrate the current financial positions of the various funds. The report 
includes information for the following funds: General, Hotel, Economic Development, Airport, 
Utility, and Stormwater funds. Key highlights for the fourth quarter include: 
 

• General Fund revenue totaled $52.6 million, which is 103.9% of the fiscal year budget. 
• General Fund expenditures totaled $49.6 million, which is 98.0% of the fiscal year budget. 
• Sales tax collections totaled $17.6 million, which is 106.7% of the fiscal year budget. 
• The Hotel Fund had revenue of $6.8 million, or 91.4% of the fiscal year budget, while 

Hotel Fund expenditures totaled $7.4 million, or 97.9% of the fiscal year budget.  
• Special Events revenues totaled 85.7% and expenses totaled 115.0% of the fiscal year 

budget.  
• Airport Fund operating revenue (excluding reimbursable grant revenue) totaled $7.9 

million or 105.7% and operating expenses totaled $6.7 million or 98.5% of the fiscal year 
budget. 

• Utility Fund operating revenue totaled $17.1 million or 98.9% and operating expenses 
totaled $16.4 million or 93.6% of the fiscal year budget. 

• Stormwater Fund revenue totaled $2.9 million or 103.6% and operating expenses totaled 
$2.5 million or 88.9% of the fiscal year budget. 

 
The Quarterly Investment Report for the fourth quarter of FY 2025 was also provided for 
informational purposes. This report was prepared in accordance with state law and the Town's 
Financial Policies. 
 
City Council Direction: No specific feedback was requested. This update was provided for 
informational purposes only. 
 

d. Present and discuss the City Council Rules and Procedures. 
[City Secretary, Valencia Garcia] 
 

This item was postponed to a future City Council Meeting.  
 
Mayor Arfsten closed the Work Session at 7:04 PM. 

 
COUNCIL MEETING 

 
Mayor Arfsten convened the City Council Meeting at 7:19 PM in the Town Hall City Council 
Chambers. 
 
1. Pledge of Allegiance. United States and Texas Flags.  
 
Mayor Arfsten led the Pledge of Allegiance to the United States and Texas Flags. 



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 5 of 11 
 

 
2. Proclamations / Presentations 

a. City Manager’s Announcements 
b. Employee Recognition 

• Addison Police Chief Chris Freis introduced Police Officer Tilford Clark. 
 

3. Public Comment. The City Council invites citizens to address the City Council on any matter, including items 
on the agenda, except public hearings that are included on the agenda. Comments related to Public Hearings 
will be heard when the specific hearing starts. Citizen comments are limited to three (3) minutes, unless otherwise 
required by law. To address the Council, please fill out a City Council Appearance Card and submit it to a staff 
member prior to the Public Comment item on the agenda. The Council is not permitted to take any action or 
discuss any item not listed on the agenda. The Council may choose to place the item on a future agenda. 

 
The following citizens requested to speak during the Public Comment period: 
 

• Patrick Arnzen, 4700 Airport Parkway – spoke in his capacity as the CEO of Thrust Flight 
and expressed his disappointment in the City Council denial of a Ground Lease Agreement 
between Thrust Flight and the Town. 

• Tricia Stuart, 15755 Seabolt – congratulated the City Council and Town staff on the 
opening of the new Addison Town Hall.  

 
4. Consent Agenda. All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered routine by the City Council and 

will be enacted by one motion with no individual consideration. If individual consideration of an item is requested, 
it will be pulled from the Consent Agenda and discussed separately. 

a. Consider action on the Minutes from the October 14, 2025 Regular City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Consider action on the Minutes from the November 4, 2025 City Council Work 
Session Meeting. 

c. Resolution No. R25-094: Consider action on a Resolution approving a Service 
Agreement between the Town of Addison and Flicket US LLC for the management, 
operation, and coordination of the Special Event ticketing processes. 

d. Resolution No. R25-095: Consider action on a Resolution approving the purchase of a 
compact track loader from Deen Kubota, LLC for the Addison Airport for an amount 
not to exceed $103,819.71; authorizing the City Manager and/or his designee to 
execute the Purchase Order; and providing an effective date. 

e. Resolution No. R25-096: Consider action on a Resolution approving the purchase of a 
replacement F250 pick-up truck from Silsbee Ford for the Addison Airport for an 
amount not to exceed $73,585.00; authorizing the City Manager and / or his designee 
to execute the Purchase Order; and providing an effective date. 

f. Resolution No. R25-097: Consider action on a Resolution approving a Professional 
Services Agreement with Freese and Nichols, Inc., to conduct a multi-sensor 
inspection condition assessment in cooperation with the City of Farmers Branch in 



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 6 of 11 
 

an amount not to exceed $376,750. 

g. Consider action on the purchase of traffic signal system equipment from Paradigm 
Traffic Systems, Inc., and authorize the City Manager to execute the purchase order 
in an amount not to exceed $161,500. 

h. Consider action on the purchase of Water Quality Analyzers from Hach Company 
and authorize the City Manager to execute the Purchase Order in an amount not to 
exceed $54,422.60. 

i. Resolution No. R25-098: Consider action on a Resolution authorizing the City 
Manager to execute a three-year lease agreement with Martinaire Aviation, LLC for 
a conventional hangar facility located at 4553 Glenn Curtiss Drive at Addison 
Airport, with an option to extend the lease for an additional two years; and providing 
an effective date. 

j. Resolution No. R25-099: Consider action on a Resolution approving the sale and 
assignment of the ground lease between AQRD Real Estate Partners, LLC, and 
Premier Jet Center, LLC, for the use of airport property at 4600 Claire Chennault 
Drive for commercial office and aeronautical purposes; authorizing the City Manager 
to sign the Landlord’s Consent required under the ground lease and other necessary 
documents; and providing for an effective date. 

k. Resolution No. R25-100: Consider action on a Resolution approving the sale and 
assignment of the ground lease between AQRD Hangar Management, LLC, and 
Premier Jet Center, LLC, for the use of airport property at 4582 and 4584 Claire 
Chennault Drive for commercial office and aeronautical purposes; authorizing the 
City Manager to sign the Landlord’s Consent required under the ground lease and 
other necessary documents; and providing for an effective date. 

 
Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen pulled Consent Agenda Items #4j and #4k for individual discussion 
and consideration. 
 
MOTION: Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen moved to approve §4 - CONSENT AGENDA (a-i) as 
presented. Deputy Mayor Pro-Tempore DeFrancisco seconded the motion. Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
MOTION: Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen moved to approve §4 - CONSENT AGENDA (j) as 
presented. Council Member Gardner seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
MOTION: Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen moved to approve §4 - CONSENT AGENDA (k) as 
presented. Council Member Gardner seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
5. Public Hearings. 
 

a. *POSTPONED INDEFINITELY* Hold a public hearing, present, discuss, and 
consider action on a request to rezone an 11.6± acre property, generally located at the 



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 7 of 11 
 

southeast corner of Addison Road and Excel Parkway, boarding the Addison town 
boundary and the Dallas North Tollway to the east, addressed as 16641 Dallas 
Parkway, from Planned Development (PD), Ordinance No. 020-47, to Mixed-Use 
Suburban Corridor (M-2) and a new Planned Development (PD) District with use and 
development standards for multifamily residential, fee-simple townhomes, and 
associated private open space and common areas, through the approval of 
development plans and standards. Case 1939-Z/ Addison Toll Road Development 
(Addison Rd & Excel Pkwy). 
[Director of Development & Neighborhood Services, Lesley Nyp] 

 
The Addison Planning and Zoning Commission, meeting in regular session on October 21, 2025, 
voted to recommend denial of a request to rezone an 11.6± acre property, generally located at the 
southeast corner of Addison Road and Excel Parkway, bordering the Addison town boundary and 
the Dallas North Tollway to the east, addressed as 16641 Dallas Parkway, from Planned 
Development (PD), Ordinance No. 020-47, to Mixed-Use Suburban Corridor (M-2) and a new 
Planned Development (PD) District with use and development standards for multifamily residential, 
fee-simple townhomes, and associated private open space and common areas, through the approval 
of development plans and standards. 
 
Speakers at the Planning & Zoning Commission Public Hearing:  
For:        Zack Smutzer, 4925 Marcus Avenue 
On:         none 
Against:  Valerie Collins, 14668 Wayside Court 
 
Voting Aye:  Barker, Braun, Copeland, Fansler, Smith, Then 
Voting Nay:  Wright 
Absent:        none 
 
Due to a recommendation of denial by the Planning and Zoning Commission, approval of this request 
would require a supermajority by City Council. 
 
The applicant has requested that the request be postponed indefinitely. 
 
6. Individual Consideration. 
 

a. Resolution No. R25-101: Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution 
approving an Events Agreement between the Town of Addison and DCO Realty, Inc. 
for the management, operation, coordination, and control of a variety of events at 
Vitruvian Park and authorizing the City Manager to execute the agreement in an 
amount not to exceed $185,000. 
[Director of Special Events & Theatre, Abby Morales] 

 
The Town of Addison and DCO Realty, Inc., the developer / manager of Vitruvian Park, entered 
into an event sponsorship reimbursement agreement in 2012 that is presented to Council for renewal 
annually. DCO Realty, Inc. plans to conduct and present a variety of public events within the 
Vitruvian Park area during Fiscal Year (FY) 2026.  The Town would like to participate in these 
events and activities as a sponsor. To facilitate this, the Town will enter into an agreement with DCO 



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 8 of 11 
 

Realty, Inc. for sponsorship reimbursement purposes in an amount not to exceed $185,000. These 
funds are used for the following projects: 
 

• Vitruvian Lights Light Show -- $155,000 
• Vitruvian Lights Event --- $10,000 
• Vitruvian Nights Live Event --- $5,000 
• Vitruvian Salsa Festival Event -- $15,000 

 
DCO Realty produces the events and provides the following components for each: 
 

• Lights installation 
• Porter service 
• Restroom cleaning 
• Traffic control 
• Security service 
• Park light timers 
• Lights maintenance 
• Entertainment booking 
• Marketing and promotion with the Town listed as a sponsor. 

 
The Town is a sponsor of the events and provides the following components as support: 
 

• Parks & Recreation and Public Works & Engineering staff support for the tree lighting 
ceremony and special events. 

• Electric outlet and timer maintenance on Town property. 
• Park use permitting. 
• Staff support for vendor access to electric cabinets.  

 
These funds are included in the approved FY2026 Hotel Fund budget. 
 
Staff recommended approval. 
 
MOTION: Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen moved to approve Resolution No. R25-101 approving an 
Events agreement with DCO Realty, Inc. for the management of events at Vitruvian Park. Council 
Member Liscio seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously.  
 

b. Present, discuss, and consider action on Change Order No. 1 to the design contract 
with Teague Nall and Perkins, Inc. for the Quorum Drive Reconstruction Design 
Project in an amount not to exceed $399,340, revising the total contract amount to 
$4,820,987, and extending the contract completion date to October 2027. 
[Director of Public Works & Engineering, Becky Diviney] 

 
On June 13, 2023, the Town of Addison entered into a professional services agreement with Teague 
Nall and Perkins, Inc. (TNP) for the Quorum Drive Reconstruction Design Project in the amount of 
$4,421,647. 

https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/237294/2423


Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 9 of 11 
 

 
During the early visioning and schematic design phase, several design refinements and scope 
modifications were identified to better align the project with Council’s placemaking and multimodal 
mobility goals. These adjustments were discussed during the Visioning Workshop on February 26, 
2025, and incorporated into the 15% schematic design review process. 
 
The staff presentation built upon a previous City Council Work Session on May 28, 2024.  
 
Change Order No. 1 extends the contract time for final design to October 2027 and adds professional 
design services to address scope changes identified during the project’s visioning phase and 
subsequent coordination. The change order includes the following major components: 
 

• Triangle Park at Quorum and Landmark Place 
• Intersection and Corridor Reconfiguration 
• Curb Line Modifications 
• Traffic Modeling 
• Subsurface utility engineering and utility coordination 
• Topographic and boundary survey 
• Additional water and wastewater design  
• Additional drainage analysis and design  
• Additional roadway design  
• Additional traffic analysis and signal design 
• Additional Illumination design 
• Public space (pavilion and restrooms), landscape, irrigation, and aesthetic design 
• Agency Coordination and Permitting 

 
This change order provides the options of a two-way cycle track, or a four-lane divided roadway. 
This item has the option to be approved as a four-lane divided roadway in an amount not to exceed 
$399,340; or in an amount not to exceed $380,510 for the two-way cycle track. 
 
Four Lane Divided Roadway Option 
Original Contract: $4,421,647 
Change Order #1: $399,340 
Revised Total: $4,820,987 
 
The current opinion of probable project cost for the Quorum Drive Reconstruction Project for a four-
lane divided roadway, excluding franchise utility relocations, is estimated at $39,876,987. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION COST 
DESIGN COST ESTIMATE $4,820,987 
ROW COST ESTIMATE $900,000 
CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATE $31,050,000 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT COSTS $3,106,000 

https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/306460/11063


Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 10 of 11 
 

TOTAL PROJECT COST ESTIMATE $39,876,987 
 
Two-Way Cycle Track Option 
Original Contract: $4,421,647 
Change Order #1: $380,510 
Revised Total: $4,802,157 
 
The current opinion of probable project cost for the Quorum Drive Reconstruction Project for a two-
way cycle track, excluding franchise utility relocations, is estimated at $37,279,157. 
 
DESCRIPTION COST 
DESIGN COST ESTIMATE $4,802,157 
ROW COST ESTIMATE $925,000 
CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATE $28,682,000 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT COSTS $2,870,000 
TOTAL PROJECT COST ESTIMATE $37,279,157 
 
Staff requested Council direction on approving a design change order with the following two options: 
 
Option 1: Four-lane divided roadway, either with or without sharrows in an amount not to exceed 
$399,340. 
 
Option 2: Two-way cycle track option in an amount not to exceed $380,510. 
 
MOTION: Council Member Gardner moved to approve Change Order No. 1 with the selection 
of Option 1: a four-lane divided roadway without bike lanes and the addition of sharrows to be 
determined at a later date. Council Member Freed seconded the motion. Motion carried 5-2 with 
Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen and Council Member Smith voting against.  
 
7. Items of Community Interest. The City Council will have this opportunity to address items of community 

interest, including: expressions of thanks, congratulations, or condolence; information regarding holiday 
schedules; an honorary or salutary recognition; a reminder about an upcoming event organized or sponsored by 
the Town of Addison; information regarding a social, ceremonial, or community event that was or will be attended 
by an Addison City Council member or an official; and, announcements involving an eminent threat to public 
health and safety in Addison that has arisen since posting this agenda. 

 

 
8. Adjourn Meeting. 
 
There being no further business to come before the City Council, Mayor Arfsten adjourned the 
meeting at 9:04 PM. 
 
      TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 
 



Town of Addison, Texas 
November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      Page 11 of 11 
 

 
 
             
      Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary 



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 4. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: Economic Development
Key Focus Areas: Economic Development and Revitalization

AGENDA CAPTION:
Consider action on a Resolution approving an Economic Development Program Grant Agreement
with LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC including a capital improvement grant in an amount not to exceed
$50,000 and a performance-based grant representing 50% of the excess tax revenue above the 2024
baseline up to $200,000; and authorizing the City Manager to execute the agreement.

BACKGROUND:
Staff first engaged Last Mile Investments (LMI) on March 5, 2025, regarding their plans to acquire the
Quorum II retail center. LMI, founded in 2019 and headquartered in Cincinnati, is a portfolio company
of North American Properties, a fully integrated real estate firm with more than $7 billion in investments
across 16 states and 67 cities. LMI focuses on repositioning underperforming retail assets through
targeted capital improvements and value-add leasing strategies.

The Quorum II Project includes the redevelopment of 77,671 square feet of retail space constructed in
1981 and currently anchored by Addison Improv, Jimmy John’s, and 7-Eleven. The planned
improvements are intended to retain current tenants, attract new national and regional tenants, improve
visibility, enhance the shopper experience, and reduce the current 18% vacancy to below 5%.

In July 2025, the City Council directed staff to negotiate a Letter of Intent (LOI) with LMI based on a
proposed incentive package not to exceed $250,000, consisting of: 

A $50,000 retail property investment grant with the condition that LMI complies with all Town
development regulations
Up to $200,000 in sales tax reimbursements — 50% of sales tax above the current $202,866
baseline for seven years.

The agreement itself has a seven-year term and is assignable under the conditions negotiated in the
LOI. The LOI was executed by LMI on September 17, 2025. The proposed Economic Development
Agreement aligns with the direction provided by Council and reflects the terms negotiated under that
authorization.

The Quorum II Redevelopment Project directly supports Council’s Strategic Objective 2.1 to pursue
new economic development and zoning tools to revitalize declining areas. It also fulfills Initiative 2.1.2:
Implementation of the Retail Façade Improvement Program. This corridor continues to see
reinvestment momentum, and Quorum II represents another opportunity to reposition aging retail into a
more competitive and productive asset for the Town.

FISCAL IMPACT
Fiscal analysis indicates a 2.5-year payback period and approximately $996,400 in incremental Town
tax revenue over ten years, excluding additional alcohol tax growth.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments



Resolution - LMI Quorum II ED Grant Agreement 



Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ______ Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
ADDISON, TEXAS, APPROVING AN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
INCENTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN OF ADDISON AND LMR II 
– QUORUM II PLAZA LLC, PROVIDING FOR A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
GRANT IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $50,000.00 AND A PERFORMANCE-
BASED GRANT REPRESENTING 50% OF THE EXCESS SALES TAX 
REVENUE ABOVE THE 2024 BASELINE FOR THE PREMISES FOR 7 YEARS; 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE 
AGREEMENT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

WHEREAS, LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC (the “Company”) has committed to 
renovating the Quorum II Plaza located at 4980 Belt Line Road, Dallas, Texas 75254 (the 
“Premises”), and the Company and/or its tenant(s) intend to spend a minimum of $2,500,000.00, in 
the aggregate, towards total improvements upon the Premises; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has informed the Town that economic development incentives 
would cause the Company and/or its tenants to construct and complete the renovations to the 
Premises that will benefit the Town by generating revenue from sales and use taxes and from ad 
valorem taxes due to the increased value resulting from the improvements to the Premises; and 

WHEREAS, the Town is authorized by Article III, Section 52-a of the Texas Constitution 
and Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government Code to provide economic development incentives 
to promote local economic development and stimulate business and commercial activity; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that making an economic development grant to the 
Company is in accordance with the Town’s programs for economic development and will (i) further 
the objectives of the Town, (ii) benefit the Town and its inhabitants, and (iii) promote local 
economic development and stimulate business and commercial activity in Addison.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1.  The City Council hereby approves the Economic Development Grant 
Agreement between the Town of Addison and LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC, providing an 
incentive grant to the Company not to exceed $50,000.00 along with a performance-based grant 
based upon 50% of collected sales taxes above the 2024 baseline for the Premises for seven (7) years, 
a copy of which is attached to this Resolution as Exhibit A. The City Manager is hereby authorized 
to execute said agreement. 

SECTION 2. This Resolution shall take effect from and after its date of adoption. 



Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ______ Page 2 of 3 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, Texas this 
___ day of __________ 2025. 

TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 

    Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Valencia Garcia, City Secretary Whitt Wyatt, City Attorney 



Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ______ Page 3 of 3 

EXHIBIT A 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

1 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

This Economic Development Grant Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and between the 
Town of Addison, Texas (“Town” or “Addison”) and LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC, a Texas 
limited liability company (“Company”) (each a “party” and collectively the “parties”), acting by 
and through their respective authorized officers, for the purposes and considerations stated below: 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Company has committed to renovating the Quorum II Plaza located at 
4980 Belt Line Road, Dallas, Texas 75254 (hereinafter referred to as the "Premises"); and 

WHEREAS, the Company and/or its Tenant(s) (hereinafter defined) intend to spend a 
minimum of $2,500,000.00, in the aggregate, towards total improvements upon the Premises as 
part of the Project (hereinafter defined); and  

WHEREAS, the Company has informed the Town that economic development incentives 
would cause the Company and/or its Tenants to construct and complete the Project that will benefit 
the Town by generating revenue from sales and use taxes and from ad valorem taxes due to the 
increased value resulting from the improvements to the Premises; and  

WHEREAS, the Town is authorized by Article III, Section 52-a of the Texas Constitution 
and Tex. Local Gov’t Code §380.001 et seq. to provide economic development grants for public 
purposes of promoting local economic development and incentivizing business and commercial 
activity in the Town; and 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Chapter 380 
of the Texas Local Government Code (hereinafter referred to as "Chapter 380"); and 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to provide, pursuant to Chapter 380, an incentive to the 
Company to develop and operate, and/or causes its Tenants to develop and operate, the Project 
within Addison, Texas; and 

WHEREAS, the Town has concluded and hereby finds that this Agreement clearly 
promotes economic development in Addison, Texas, and, as such, meets the requirements of 
Article III, Section 52-a of the Texas Constitution by promoting local economic development and 
stimulating business and commercial activity in the Town. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual benefits and promises 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged, the Town and the Company agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. FINDINGS INCORPORATED. 

The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated into the body of this Agreement and shall be 
considered part of the mutual covenants, consideration, and promises that bind the parties. 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

2 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. 

(a) “Affiliate” means, with regard to an entity, a corporation, partnership,
limited liability company, joint venture, or other entity that owns, directly or indirectly 
through subsidiaries, more than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding voting interests 
of the entity. 

(b) “Bankruptcy or Insolvency” means the dissolution or termination of the
Company’s existence, insolvency, or employment of receiver for any part of the 
Company’s Premises, and such appointment is not terminated or stayed within ninety 
(90) days after such appointment is initially made, any general assignment for the
benefit of creditors or the commencement of any proceedings under any bankruptcy or
insolvency laws by or against the Company and such proceedings are not dismissed
within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof.

(c) “Capital Improvements” means Company’s and/or any of its Tenant’s
onsite or offsite improvements with respect to the Premises that constitute capital 
improvements under recognized accounting principles, including the Façade and Other 
Improvements (as hereinafter defined).  As used in this Agreement, the recognized 
accounting principles shall mean GAAP (as hereinafter defined) or such other sound 
accounting principles approved in writing by Town (such approval not to be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).  

(d) “Company” means LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC, a Texas limited
liability company. 

(e) “Company Tenant List” means a written list of Tenants that pay or collect
or may pay or collect Sales and Use Taxes giving rise to Sales Tax Receipts, which 
include the taxpayer name and location(s) in the Premises.  

(f) “Completion of Construction” means (i) the Capital Improvements equal
to or greater than the Capital Improvements Threshold have been substantially 
completed in accordance with the approved development plan(s) and Town permit(s), 
as applicable; and (ii) the final inspection for such Capital Improvements has been 
performed by the applicable Town representatives, as applicable. 

(g) “Effective Date” means the date of the latter to execute this Agreement by
and between the Company and the Town. 

(h) “Façade and Other Improvements” means, in relation to the Premises, the
Company’s (1) installation of any new double-sided illuminated pylon and/or 
monument sign with decorative stone cap; (2) installation of LED lighting at 
storefronts, under canopies, parking lot light poles and building wall packs; (3) 
replacement of all canopies to provide conformity; and (4) comprehensive repainting 
of building façades, architectural columns, and branding emblems. 

(i) “Force Majeure” means any causes beyond the party’s respective control



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

3 

or because of applicable law, including, but not limited to, war, nuclear disaster, labor 
strikes, acts of God, fire, flood, riot, a government restriction, quarantine, or mandatory 
closure order enacted in response to a pandemic or other public health crises, or any 
other circumstance for which a party is not legally responsible or which is not 
reasonably within its power to control (each a “Force Majeure Event”).  Except where 
expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, any party asserting Force Majeure 
shall give prompt notice to the other parties of the prevention of performance as soon 
as the asserting party is reasonably aware of such prevention and has the burden of 
demonstrating (i) how and why their performance was so prevented, (ii) the period of 
time during which they were so prevented from performing (which under the facts may 
be equal to, or shorter or longer than, the duration of the Force Majeure Event itself), 
and (iii) that the party used reasonable efforts to mitigate and/or eliminate such 
prevention and resumed performance under this Agreement as soon as reasonably 
practicable.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in no event shall 
the lack of sufficient financial resources be a basis for a claim of Force Majeure. 

(j) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles, applied on a
consistent basis, set forth in Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and/or in statements of the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board which are applicable in the circumstances as of 
the date in question; and the requisite that such principles be applied on a consistent 
basis means that the accounting principles observed in a current period are comparable 
in all material respects to those applied in a preceding period, except to the extent that 
a deviation therefrom is expressly permitted by this Agreement. 

(k) “Grant(s)” or “Grant Payment(s)” means the Façade Improvement Grant
and Sales Tax Performance Grant, respectively, as further described in Section 4 of this 
Agreement.  

(l) “Grant Period” means a given tax year, unless expressly provided
otherwise in this Agreement.  “Tax year” shall have the meaning assigned to such term 
in Section 1.04 of the Texas Tax Code (i.e., the calendar year). 

(m) “Leasable Area” means and refers to all leasable area intended for the use
and occupancy at the Premises, but shall not include (i) parking areas, including surface 
parking areas and parking garage(s), (ii) interior or exterior sidewalks and landscaped 
areas, (iii) loading areas, loading docks and similar areas, and (iv) areas constituting 
“common areas” to which all Tenants have the right to use and enjoy pursuant to the 
provisions of their respective leases (but excluding outdoor patio and open space areas). 

(n) “Payment Request” means any written request from the Company to the
Town for payment of the Grants in conformance with this Agreement, which request 
shall be made no more than often than annually as to each applicable Grant, and shall 
be made in accordance with the requirements of Section 4 of this Agreement.   

(o) “Project” means the Company’s and/or its Tenants’ renovation and



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

4 

restoration of the Premises for continued use as a Retail/Mixed Use Development 
(hereinafter defined) open to the public throughout the term of this Agreement; 
however, subject to casualty, other Force Majeure events and/or redevelopment that 
may temporarily affect some, all or any portion of the Premises, including the (1) 
installation of the Capital Improvements; (2) commercially reasonable efforts to 
convert a portion of the former Verizon space into a restaurant Tenant space or other 
commercially viable space for Tenant occupancy, subject to market conditions; and (3) 
the expenditure of at least $2,500,000.00 in total Capital Improvements (“Capital 
Improvements Threshold”) by the Company and/or Tenants, in the aggregate, for the 
Project across the entire Premises commencing at the time the Company acquired the 
Premises and continuing through and including the Expiration Date. 

(p) “Required Use” means as a commercial property continuously operating as
a commercially viable mixed use commercial development maintaining a minimum 
77,000 square feet of Leasable Area, subject to casualty, other Force Majeure events 
and/or redevelopment that may temporarily affect some, all or any portion of the 
Premises, for use by Tenants for retail, restaurant, and other uses permitted under the 
zoning regulations for the Premises, including, without limitation, uses permitted as a 
matter of right, conditionally permitted and/or otherwise permitted pursuant to a Town 
approved variance (collectively, “Retail/Mixed-Use Development”).  

(q) “Sales and Use Tax” means the Local Sales and Use Tax imposed by the
Town pursuant to the authority of Chapter 321 of the Texas Tax Code, as amended, on 
the receipts from the sale at retail of Taxable Items by a Tenant consummated within 
the Premises.   

(r) “Sales Tax Receipts” means the Town’s actual receipts from the State of
Texas applicable to the collection of Sales and Use Tax. 

(s) “Sales Tax Report” means one or more sales tax reports provided by the
State of Texas to the Town in accordance with Section 321.3022, Texas Tax Code (or 
other applicable provision of the Texas Tax Code), which lists the amount of Sales and 
Use Tax collected (including any refunds, credits or adjustments) from each Tenant for 
the applicable Grant Period. 

(t) “Taxable Items” means both “taxable items” and “taxable services” as those
phrases are defined by Chapter 151 of the Texas Tax Code, as amended. 

(u) “Tenant(s)” means any person occupying the Premises under a valid lease,
sublease, license agreement and/or other occupancy agreement. 

SECTION 3. TERM. 

This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, as defined 
herein, and shall expire on December 31, 2033, unless sooner terminated as provided herein (the 
“Expiration Date”).  



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

5 

 
SECTION 4. THE GRANTS. 

(a)   Grant Payments.  Subject to the Company’s satisfaction of and compliance with 
all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including without limitation the requirements 
set forth in Section 5, the Town agrees to pay to Company the Grant Payments in an amount 
provided during the term of this Agreement as follows: 

(1) Façade Improvement Grant. The Town will provide the Company a capital 
improvement reimbursement grant of up to $50,000.00 for the Company’s 
construction of the Façade and Other Improvements on the Premises in 
support of the Project (the “Façade and Other Improvement Grant”), which 
shall be paid within thirty (30) days of Company providing the Town with 
a Payment Request, provided that the Company has incurred expenditures 
of not less than $490,000 in connection with the Façade and Other 
Improvements. 

(2) Sales Tax Performance Grant.  Beginning on January 1st of the calendar year 
immediately following the date of Completion of Construction of Capital 
Improvements equal to or greater than the Capital Improvements Threshold, 
and annually thereafter through the Expiration Date, the Town will provide 
the Company with a performance-based reimbursement in an amount equal 
to fifty percent (50%) of the annual Town sales tax generated by the 
Premises that exceeds the 2024 baseline amount of $203,000.00 (the “Sales 
Tax Performance Grant”). The total amount of Sales Tax Performance 
Grant payments shall not exceed $200,000.00. 

(b) Payment Request Procedures.  

(1) The Company shall submit a Payment Request for the Façade Improvement 
Grant after completion of Façade and Other Improvements, and such 
request shall include (i) a true and correct copy of the applicable invoice(s) 
submitted by the Company’s contractor(s) (together with all attachments, 
documents, and materials applicable thereto) and/or other reasonable 
documentation evidencing  Company’s expenditures for the Façade and 
Other Improvements; (ii) certification from the Company that the Façade 
and Other Improvements for which reimbursement has been requested has 
been substantially completed by the Company and its contractor(s) in 
compliance with the applicable construction contract(s) and this 
Agreement; (iii) executed conditional partial or final lien waivers (as 
applicable) from all contractors (and subcontractors and material suppliers) 
establishing payment or satisfaction of payment to the same with respect to 
the Façade Improvements; and (iv) a certificate from the Company and the 
applicable contractor, architect, or engineer that the Façade and Other 
Improvements for which reimbursement has been requested has been 
completed in accordance with the approved development plans. 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

6 

(2) The Company shall submit a Payment Request for the Sales Tax 
Performance Grant corresponding to each Grant Period not earlier than 
March 1st and not later than August 1st immediately following the end of 
the applicable Grant Period. Each Payment Request shall include a request 
from the Company to the Town to obtain a Sales Tax Report for Tenants at 
the Premises and an updated Company Tenant List showing all Tenants for 
the applicable Grant Period substantially similar to the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof. The Town shall obtain a Sales Tax 
Report showing the full Sales Tax Receipts from Tenants for the applicable 
Grant Period. Information contained in each Sales Tax Reports shall remain 
confidential and the Town will not provide a copy of any report to the 
Company, unless Company is authorized to receive such information 
pursuant to the terms of its leases and/or other occupancy agreements with 
the Tenants and Company delivers to the Town the applicable section or 
provision from such leases demonstrating that Company is permitted to 
receive the information contained in the Sales Tax Reports. The Town will 
calculate the relevant Sales Tax Performance Grant based upon information 
contained in the relevant Sales Tax Report for the Grant Period.  

(3) The Company understands and agrees that the Town shall not be obligated 
to pay the Company the Sales Tax Performance Grant for the applicable 
Grant Period if the Company fails to timely deliver to the Town the request 
for Sales Tax Report and updated Company Tenant List for the Grant Period 
in question. The Town agrees to pay the Company the Sales Tax 
Performance Grant for the applicable Grant Period not later than thirty (30) 
days after receipt of the Payment Request and receipt of the necessary 
Company Tenant List for the applicable Grant Period.  The Company 
acknowledges and agrees that the Town shall have no duty to calculate the 
Sales Tax Receipts or determine the entitlement of the Company to any 
Sales Tax Performance Grant or pay any Sales Tax Performance Grant 
during the term of this Agreement until the Town receives the 
documentation required herein for the applicable Grant Period. 

(4) The Company understands and agrees that the Town shall not be responsible 
for, nor be in default of, this Agreement based on the performance of the 
State of Texas with respect to the time taken by the State of Texas to prepare 
and deliver the Sales Tax Report for any Grant Period.  

(5) It is not a default of this Agreement if the Company submits a Payment 
Request prior to March 1st immediately following the end of the applicable 
Grant Period; provided, however, the Town shall be under no obligation to 
pay the Sales Tax Performance Grant earlier than if the request was timely 
provided on or after March 1st.  

(6) The Town and the Company agree if during the term of this Agreement, the 
laws, regulations, or policies of the State of Texas change in such a manner 
as to substantively alter the ability of the parties to obtain the Sales Tax 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

7 

Report as described in this Agreement, the parties will in good faith 
reasonably cooperate and, if necessary, amend this Agreement to conform 
to such changes in laws, regulations, or policies so that the parties’ intent 
regarding the procedures for determining the amount of Sales Tax 
Performance Grants to be paid pursuant to this Agreement and the payment 
of the Sales Tax Performance Grants can be preserved. 

(c) Adjustment Notification. The Company shall promptly notify the Town in writing
of any adjustment found, determined, or made by the State of Texas, or by an outside audit, upon 
the Company having notice of any such adjustment that results or will result, in either a refund or 
reallocation of Sales Tax Receipts or the payment of Sales and Use Tax or involving amounts 
reported by Company to the State of Texas subject to this Agreement. Such notification to the 
Town shall also include the amount of any such adjustment in Sales and Use Tax or Sales Tax 
Receipts. The Company shall notify the Town in writing not later than ninety (90) days after the 
Company’s receipt of notice of the intent of the State of Texas to audit the Company with respect 
to this Agreement or any Grants herein. Such notification shall also include the period of such 
audit or investigation.   

(d) Adjustments.  In the event the Company files an amended sales and use tax return
or report with the State of Texas, or if additional Sales and Use Tax is due and owing by the 
Company to the State of Texas, as determined or approved by the State of Texas, affecting Sales 
Tax Receipts for a previous Grant Period, then the Sales Tax Performance Grant payment for the 
Grant Period immediately following such the State of Texas approved amendment shall be 
adjusted accordingly (i.e., up or down, depending on the facts), provided, in the case of an upward 
adjustment, only to the extent the Town has received Sales Tax Receipts attributed to such 
adjustment.  As a condition precedent to payment of such adjustment, the Company shall provide 
the Town with a copy of any such amended sales and use tax report or return or other evidence 
substantiating the applicable change in Sales and Use Tax or Sales Tax Receipts and the approval 
thereof by the State of Texas, provided the Company receives notice of same from the State of 
Texas or the Town. Copies of any amended sales and use tax return or report or notification from 
the State of Texas affecting Sales Tax Receipts for a previous Grant Period shall be provided to 
the Town with the Payment Request for the next Grant Period after such amended sales and use 
tax return, report or notification is received by the Company from the State of Texas via the 
Town.  The provisions of this subsection shall survive past the Expiration Date of this Agreement. 

(e) Refunds and Underpayments of Grant Payments.  In the event the State of
Texas determines that the Town received in error Sales Tax Receipts for any Grant Period, or that 
the amount of Sales Tax Receipts collected from the Company exceeds (or is less than) the correct 
amount of Sales and Use Tax for a previous Grant Period for which the Company and has received 
a Sales Tax Performance Grant, the Company shall not later than sixty (60) days after receipt of 
notification thereof from the Town specifying the amount by which such Sales Tax Performance 
Grant varied from the amount to which the Company was entitled pursuant to such the State of 
Texas determination, adjust (up or down, depending on the facts) the amount of Sales Tax 
Performance Grant claimed on the next Payment Request submitted by the Company to the Town 
following such determination by the State of Texas.  If the Company does not adjust the amount 
claimed due for the Sales Tax Performance Grant payment on the next Payment Request submitted 
by the Company to the Town, then the Town may, at its option, adjust the Sales Tax Performance 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

8 

Grant payment on such Payment Request.  If the adjustment results in funds to be paid back to the 
Town and the Sales Tax Performance Grant payment on the next Payment Request submitted by 
the Company to the Town is not adjusted as provided above, then the Company shall repay such 
amount to the Town upon demand by the Town. In connection with any notification to the 
Company of a Sales Tax Performance Grant variation, the Town shall provide the Company with 
a copy of any such determination by the State of Texas contemplated herein to the extent allowed 
by law.  The provisions of this subsection shall survive past the Expiration Date of this Agreement. 

(f) Receipt of Sale Tax Receipts Required.  The Town shall not be required to pay 
any Sales Tax Performance Grant until such time as the Town has received the Sales Tax Receipts 
from the State of Texas relating to the applicable Grant Period for which such payment of the Sales 
Tax Grant is due; provided, however, that if such Sales Tax Receipts are received after the 
expiration of the term and the Company has timely submitted its request for payment, then the 
Town shall pay such Sales Tax Performance Grant to Company within the payment timeframe 
specified in this Agreement.  Under no circumstances shall any Sales Tax Performance Grant be 
based on any receipts from the Town’s imposition and collection of sales and use tax from any 
source other than the sale of Taxable Items by the Tenants consummated at the Premises.  

(g) Sales Tax Reports.  The parties designate this Agreement as a “revenue sharing 
agreement,” thereby entitling the Town to request annual sales and use tax information from the 
State of Texas pursuant to Section 321.3022 or other sections of the Texas Tax Code, as amended. 
Upon the written request of the Town and/or the State of Texas, the Company is to provide a 
release or waiver to the Town to allow the State of Texas to disclose Company’s Sales and Use 
Tax information pertaining to the sale of Taxable Items on the Premises during the term of this 
Agreement in a form as may be required by the State of Texas.  To avoid any ambiguity, the 
Company can only grant a release or waiver on behalf of itself only with respect to the Company’s 
portion of the Sales and Use Tax information. 

(h) Grant Limitations. Under no circumstances shall Town’s obligations hereunder 
be deemed to create any debt within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision. 
Further, Town shall not be obligated to pay any commercial bank, lender, or similar institution for 
any loan or credit agreement made by the Company. None of the Town’s obligations under this 
Agreement shall be pledged or otherwise encumbered in favor of any commercial lender and/or 
similar financial institution; provided, however, the Company’s rights and interests under this 
Agreement may be pledged or otherwise encumbered for the benefit of the Company’s lender. 

(i) Current Revenue. The Grant Payments made hereunder shall be paid solely from 
lawfully available funds.  Under no circumstances shall the obligations of the Town hereunder be 
deemed to create any debt within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision. The 
Grant Payments shall be paid from funds of the Town consistent with Article III, Section 52(a) of 
the Texas Constitution.  During the term of this Agreement, the Town will take steps as necessary 
to appropriate funding for the Grant each fiscal year in an amount sufficient to satisfy the 
reasonably anticipated Grant Payment(s) due to Company during the ensuing fiscal year. Further, 
the Town shall not be obligated to pay any commercial bank, lender, or similar institution for any 
loan or credit agreement made by the Company.  None of the obligations of the Town under this 
Agreement shall be pledged or otherwise encumbered in favor of any commercial lender and/or 
similar financial institution provided, however, the Company’s rights and interests under this 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

9 

Agreement may be pledged or otherwise encumbered for the benefit of the Company’s lender. 

SECTION 5.  OBLIGATIONS OF COMPANY. 

The Company covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Agreement, it shall at all 
times perform and comply with the following terms and conditions: 

(a) Required Use. During the term of this Agreement following the Commencement
Date and continuing thereafter until the Expiration Date, the Premises shall not be used for any 
purpose other than the Required Use, and the operation and occupancy of the Premises in 
conformance with the Required Use shall not cease for more than thirty (30) days except in 
connection with and to the extent of an event of Force Majeure. 

(b) Capital Improvements Threshold.  The Company shall confirm in writing to
Town that it and/or Company’s Tenants have incurred expenditures for Capital Improvements 
equal to or exceeding the Capital Improvements Threshold on or before the Expiration Date. 

(b) Records Retention. The Company shall maintain the fiscal records and supporting
documentation for expenditures of funds associated with this Agreement. The Company shall 
retain such records for the greater of (i) three (3) years from the end of the term of this Agreement 
or (ii) the period required by other applicable laws or regulations. 

(c) Accessibility of Records. The Company agrees that the Town will have the right
to review the business records of the Company that relate solely and specifically to the total amount 
spent by Company and/or its Tenants on the Capital Improvements, and any records related to 
Tenant expenditure, in the Company’s possession, towards the requirement to expend at least 
$2,500,000.00 in total Capital Improvements, in the aggregate, for the Project. Such review shall 
occur at any reasonable time and upon at least seven (7) days prior written notice to the Company. 
To the extent that is reasonably possible, the Company shall make all such records available in 
electronic form or otherwise available to be accessed through the Internet. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall not be required to disclose, 
permit the inspection of or examination of, or discuss, any document, information, or other matter 
that is not necessary to verify the Company’s material compliance with this Agreement and (i) 
constitutes trade secrets or proprietary information; (ii) in respect of which disclosure is prohibited 
by law or any binding agreement; or (iii) is subject to attorney-client or similar privilege, employee 
privacy or constitutes attorney work product. The rights to access the business records shall 
terminate three 3) years after the Expiration Date. Failure to provide reasonable access to the 
Company’s business records to authorized Town representatives shall give the Town the right to 
suspend or terminate this Agreement as provided for in Sections 6 and 7 below, or any portion 
thereof, for reason of default.  

(d) Marketing and Promotional Efforts. The Company agrees to reasonably
cooperate with the Town in its marketing efforts, including but not limited to: 

(1) Listing Addison as its address on all of the Company’s official marketing
materials; and



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

10 

(2) Reasonably assisting the Town with promotional efforts such as joint press
releases, granting permission to use the Company’s name and logo in Town
marketing materials, and participating in video and print testimonials as
mutually agreed upon by the parties.

A sample list of the Town’s regular marketing participation activities is enclosed with this 
Agreement as Exhibit “B” attached hereto and made a part hereof.  The Company may select those 
activities in which it is willing to participate during the term of this Agreement. 

(e) Performance. The Company agrees to perform and comply with all terms,
conditions, and provisions set forth in this Agreement and all other instruments and agreements by 
and between the Company and the Town. 

SECTION 6. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. 

Each of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Agreement: 

(a) General Event of Default. Failure of a party to comply with or to perform any
other term, obligation, covenant, or condition contained in this Agreement, or failure of the 
Company to comply with or to perform any other term, obligation, covenant, or condition 
contained in any other agreement by and between the Company and the Town, and such failure 
continues for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof; provided, however, that if such failure 
cannot reasonably be cured within such thirty (30) day period, no Event of Default shall occur if 
the defaulting party commences to cure such failure within such thirty (30) day period and 
thereafter diligently pursues such cure in good faith. 

(b) False Statements. Any warranty, representation, or statement made or furnished to
the Town by the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer of the Company under this 
Agreement that is knowingly false or misleading with the intent to defraud, at the time made or 
furnished. 

(c) Bankruptcy or Insolvency. The Company's insolvency, the appointment of a
receiver for any part of the Company's Premises, any assignment for the benefit of creditors of the 
Company, any type of creditor workout for the Company, or the commencement of any proceeding 
under any Bankruptcy or Insolvency laws by or against the Company; provided, however, that in 
the case of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, such proceeding is not dismissed within 
ninety (90) days after the filing thereof. 

(d) Ad Valorem Taxes. The Company allows its ad valorem taxes owed to the Town
to become delinquent for a period exceeding thirty (30) days after written notice from the Town; 
provided, however, that no default shall occur for so long as (i) such taxes are being contested or 
protested by the Company in good faith and in accordance with applicable law.   

SECTION 7. EFFECT OF AN EVENT OF DEFAULT. 

(a) Termination for Default.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and subject
to the defaulting party’s right to cure in Section 6(a), the non-defaulting party shall have the right 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

11 

to terminate this Agreement, enforce specific performance as appropriate, or maintain a cause of 
action for damages caused by the event(s) of default.  

 
(b) Repayment. In the event an Event of Default by the Company remains uncured, 

the Town may require in a written notice to the Company that the Company repay to the Town an 
amount equal to the total Grant Payments previously paid by the Town to the Company for the one 
(1) year period prior to the Event of Default, or for all of the Grant Payments from inception if the 
Event of Default is as a result of fraud or intentional misrepresentation by Company, plus interest 
at the rate periodically announced by the Wall Street Journal as the prime or base commercial 
lending rate, or if the Wall Street Journal shall ever cease to exist or cease to announce a prime or 
base lending rate, then at the annual rate of interest from time to time announced by Citibank, N.A. 
(or by any other New York money center bank reasonably selected by the Town) as its prime or 
base commercial lending rate. 

 
 SECTION 8.  INDEMNIFICATION.  
 
THE COMPANY AGREES TO DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD THE TOWN, ITS 
OFFICERS, AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES (COLLECTIVELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF THIS 
SECTION, “TOWN”) HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LIABILITIES, 
DAMAGES, CLAIMS, LAWSUITS, JUDGMENTS, REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES, 
COSTS, EXPENSES, AND DEMANDS BY THE STATE OF TEXAS THAT THE TOWN HAS 
BEEN PAID ERRONEOUSLY, OVER-PAID OR INCORRECTLY ALLOCATED SALES 
AND USE TAX ATTRIBUTED TO THE SALE OF TAXABLE ITEMS BY THE COMPANY 
CONSUMMATED AT THE PROJECT FOR ANY GRANT PERIOD DURING THE TERM OF 
THIS AGREEMENT THAT IS THE RESULT OF THE ACTS, OMISSIONS OR NEGLIGENCE 
OF THE COMPANY AND/OR COMPANY’S AGENTS, EMPLOYEES OR CONTRACTORS 
(COLLECTIVELY, A “CLAIM”). IT IS THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES THAT THE 
COMPANY SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REPAYMENT OF ANY GRANT 
PAYMENTS PAID TO THE COMPANY HEREIN BY THE TOWN TO THE EXTENT OF 
SALES AND USE TAX RECEIPTS PAID TO THE STATE OF TEXAS OR THE TOWN THAT 
UPON A FINAL DETERMINATION WERE FOUND TO HAVE BEEN PAID 
ERRONEOUSLY, COLLECTED, DISTRIBUTED, OR ALLOCATED TO THE TOWN AND 
THE SAME WAS CAUSED BY THE ACTS, OMISSIONS OR NEGLIGENCE OF THE 
COMPANY AND/OR COMPANY’S AGENTS, EMPLOYEES AND CONTRACTORS. THE 
INDEMNIFICATION SHALL NOT APPLY TO ANY LIABILITY TO THE TENANT 
RESULTING FROM THE ERRORS OR OMISSIONS OF THE TOWN.  THE PROVISIONS 
OF THIS SECTION SHALL SURVIVE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT. THE 
PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION ARE SOLELY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PARTIES 
AND DO NOT CREATE ANY OBLIGATIONS FROM OR GRANT ANY CONTRACTUAL 
OR OTHER RIGHTS TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY, OTHER THAN 
OBLIGATIONS, IF ANY, THAT ARISE FROM THE COMPANY TO THE TOWN TO 
PERFORM OBLIGATION. 
 

SECTION 9. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

The following miscellaneous provisions are a part of this Agreement: 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

12 

(a) Binding Agreement; Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors, affiliates, administrators, executors, and permitted 
assigns of the respective parties.  This Agreement may not be assigned by the Company without 
the prior written consent of the Town, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed; provided, however, this prohibition does not apply to, and the Town shall 
have no right to disapprove or prevent, (i) the assignment of this Agreement at any time to any 
partnership, limited liability company or joint venture entity in which the Company or an Affiliate 
is the sole general partner, sole member or managing member, (ii) a corporation, partnership, 
limited liability company, joint venture, or other entity more than fifty percent (50%) of the 
outstanding voting interests of which are owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, by that 
entity, (iii) a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, or other entity that 
has the same ultimate parent as the entity, and/or (iv) Company’s assignment to any entity that 
acquires the entire Premises from the Company. 

(b) No Joint Venture.  It is acknowledged and agreed by the parties that the terms
hereof are not intended to and shall not be deemed to create a partnership or joint venture among 
the parties.   

(c) Authorization.  Each party represents that it has full capacity and authority to grant
all rights and assume all obligations that are granted and assumed under this Agreement.  The 
Company represents and warrants to the Town that the Company is a duly formed, validly existing 
legal entity in good standing under the laws of the state in which it is organized and is authorized 
to transact business in the State of Texas.  

(d) Notice. All notices required by this Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to
the parties at the addresses set forth on the signature page(s) of this Agreement (or to such other 
address that may be designated by the receiving party from time to time in accordance with this 
section). All notices shall be delivered by (1) personal delivery, (2) certified or registered mail (in 
each case, return receipt requested, postage prepaid), (3) nationally recognized overnight courier 
(with all fees prepaid), or (4) email of a PDF document containing the required notice. Such notice 
or document shall be deemed to be delivered or given, whether actually received or not, (a) when 
received if delivered or given in person, (b) if sent by United States mail, three (3) business days 
after being deposited in the United States mail as set forth above, (c) on the next business day after 
the day the notice or document is provided to a nationally recognized carrier to be delivered as set 
forth above, or (d) if sent by email, the next business day.  A confirmation of delivery report that 
reflects the time that the email was delivered to the recipient’s last notified email address is prima 
facie evidence of its receipt by the recipient, unless the sender receives a delivery failure 
notification, indicating that the email has not been delivered to the recipient. 

(e) Entire Agreement.  This Agreement is the entire Agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter covered in this Agreement.  There is no other collateral oral or 
written Agreement between the parties that in any manner relates to the subject matter of this 
Agreement, except as provided in any exhibits attached hereto. 

(f) Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Texas; and the venue for any action concerning this Agreement shall be in the State District Court 
of Dallas County, Texas.  The parties agree to submit to the personal and subject matter jurisdiction 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

13 

of said Court. 

(g) Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended solely by mutual written 
agreement of the parties. 

(h) Legal Construction.  In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, 
such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect other provisions, and it is the 
intention of the parties to this Agreement that in lieu of each provision that is found to be illegal, 
invalid, or unenforceable, a provision be added to this Agreement which is legal, valid and 
enforceable and is as similar in terms as possible to the provision found to be illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable. 

(i) Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.  Each of the 
counterparts shall be deemed an original instrument, but all of the counterparts shall constitute one 
and the same instrument. 

(j) Exhibits.  Any exhibits to this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference for 
the purposes wherever reference is made to the same. 

(k) Survival of Covenants.  Any of the representations, warranties, covenants, and 
obligations of the parties, as well as any rights and benefits of the parties, pertaining to a period of 
time following the Expiration Date, shall survive termination. 

(l) Employment of Undocumented Workers.  During the term of this Agreement, 
the Company agrees not to knowingly employ any undocumented workers and if convicted of a 
violation under 8 U.S.C. Section 1324a (f), the Company shall be deemed to have committed an 
Event of Default.  To avoid any ambiguity, the Company is not liable for a violation of this section 
by a subsidiary, affiliate, or franchisee of the Company or by a person with whom the Company 
contracts.  

(m) Statutory Verifications.  The Company’s execution of this Agreement shall serve 
as its verification that: 

(1) The Company (i) does not Boycott Israel and agrees that during the term of 
the Agreement will not Boycott Israel as that term is defined in the Texas 
Government Code Section 808.001, as amended; (ii) does not Boycott 
Energy Companies and agrees that during the term of this Agreement will 
not Boycott Energy Companies as that term is defined in the Texas 
Government Code Section 809.001, as amended; and (iii) does not have a 
practice, policy, guidance, or directive that discriminates against a firearm 
entity or firearm trade association as those terms are defined in the Texas 
Government Code Section 2274.001, as amended, and will not discriminate 
during the term of this Agreement against a firearm entity or firearm trade 
association; or 

(2)  The Company is exempt from the foregoing verification because it (i) is a 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) 
27692315 v1 

14 

sole proprietor, (ii) a nonprofit entity, (iii) a governmental entity, or (iv) has 
fewer than ten (10) full-time employees. 

(n) Public Information Act Requirements.  The Company acknowledges that any
and all records of the Company, including but not limited to documents that describe, relate to, 
convey, and/or illustrate the obligations, terms, and conditions set forth in this Agreement may be 
subject to the Texas Public Information Act (the “Act”), Texas Government Code Chapter 552, as 
amended.  The Company agrees to fully and promptly cooperate with the Town in responding to 
requests for information received by the Town for the foregoing information pursuant to the Act. 
In the event the Company determines that any of its information responsive to a request under the 
Act is confidential and/or exempt from disclosure to the public under the provisions of the Act, 
the Company shall, at its cost, be solely responsible for asserting arguments to the Office of the 
Attorney General pursuant to §552.305(b) of the Act, and for filing any and all subsequent appeals 
relating to an opinion of the Texas Attorney General that requires disclosure of the Company’s 
confidential information.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company agrees that the Town may, 
but shall be under no obligation to, submit arguments to the Attorney General relating to reasons 
the Company’s confidential information is exempt from disclosure to the public under the Act, 
regardless of whether the Company has asserted its arguments to the Attorney General. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK - 
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 





Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) – EXHIBIT A 
27692315 v1 

16 

EXHIBIT “A” 

PAYMENT REQUEST, SALES TAX REPORT REQUEST, AND 
COMPANY TENANT LIST 

LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC 
________________________ 
________________________ 

__________, 20__ 

VIA EMAIL AND CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

Town of Addison, Texas 
P.O. Box 9010 
Addison, Texas 75001 
Attention: David Gaines, City Manager 

Re: Economic Development Agreement for Quorum II Plaza – Payment Request, Sales Tax 
Report Request, and Company Tenant List 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC is the current owner of Quorum II Plaza located at 4980 Belt 
Line Road, Dallas, Texas 75254. All capitalized terms not herein defined are defined in the 
Economic Development Agreement for Quorum II Plaza effective as of [agreement effective 
date] (the “Agreement”). Pursuant to Section 4(c) of the Agreement, LMR II – Quorum II Plaza 
LLC hereby requests the Town to obtain a Sales Tax Report from the State Comptroller of Public 
Accounts for Tenants, and enclosed with this request please find a list of the names and 
addresses of the tenants and subtenants of the Quorum II Plaza that remit Sales and Use Tax. 

LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC hereby requests that the Town perform the calculation provided 
in Section 4(c) of the Agreement regarding Sales Tax Performance Grants, and to submit 
payment as provided therein if justified by the Sales Tax Report.  



 

Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) – EXHIBIT A 
27692315 v1 

17 

 
COMPANY TENANT LIST: 

 
[TENANT NAME] [TENANT ADDRESS] 

  



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) – EXHIBIT A 
27692315 v1 

18 

AGREEMENT FOR DISCLOSURE OF CONFIDENTIAL 
TAX INFORMATION 

This agreement is entered into between the Town of Addison, Texas (the “Town”) and 
LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC (the “taxpayer”) for the purposes indicated herein. 

I, ___________, and the duly authorized agent of LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC, a 
vendor doing business at Quorum II Plaza located at 4980 Belt Line Road, Dallas, Texas 75254 
do hereby stipulate and agree as follows: 

I hereby authorize the Texas Comptroller's Office to release and disclose any and all 
Sales and Use tax information relating to the operation of the above referenced taxpayer's 
business location to the Town. I understand and agree that this release will be made by the 
Comptroller's Office to the Town on an ongoing monthly basis beginning on the date this 
Agreement is executed. This Agreement waives any and all rights with respect to the parties 
regarding the confidentiality of tax information under Sections 111.006 and 151.027, Tax Code, 
or other state law. 

The Town agrees that it will use the tax information disclosed by the Comptroller 
pursuant to this Agreement solely and exclusively for the purposes of the Economic 
Development Grant Agreement affecting Quorum II Plaza.  

This Agreement is entered into in the Town of Addison, Dallas County, Texas and Texas 
law will apply to its interpretation and enforcement. 

SIGNED AND AGREED TO on this ___ day of February 20__. 

FOR TOWN:  FOR COMPANY: 

Town of Addison, Texas LMR II – Quorum II Plaza LLC 

By: ________________________ By: ________________________ 
       ___________        ________  
       City Manager        Authorized Person 

Date: _____________________ Date: _____________________



 

Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) – EXHIBIT B 
27692315 v1 

19 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

SAMPLE LIST OF THE TOWN’S REGULAR MARKETING PARTICIPATION 
ACTIVITIES 

 

Marketing Participation Checklist 
As part of the Agreement, the Company agrees to assist the Town of Addison (“the Town”) with 
promotional and community engagement efforts. The Company may select from the following 
activities in which it is willing to participate during the term of the Agreement. By marking each 
applicable checkbox, the Company provides its consent to participate in the specified activities as 
described. 

Joint Press Releases 
Participate in the creation and distribution of joint press releases announcing milestones such as 
the Company’s relocation, expansion, or community engagement efforts. 

☐ Agree 
Logo and Name Usage 
Grant permission for the Town to use the Company’s name and logo in printed and digital 
marketing materials related to local business development and community programs. 

☐ Agree 
Project Identification as an Addison Economic Development Initiative 

Permit the Town to identify the project as an official Addison Economic Development initiative, 
including the use of on-site signage, website recognition, or other visual markers designating the 
Company's participation in a Town-supported project. 

☐ Agree 
 
Video Testimonials 
Participate in a short video testimonial highlighting the Company’s experience working with the 
Town. The testimonial may be used on the Town’s website, social media channels, or at Town 
events. 

☐ Agree 
Print Testimonials 
Provide a written testimonial or case study that can be featured in the Town’s printed marketing 
materials (e.g., brochures, newsletters). 

☐ Agree 
Town Website Feature 
Be featured on the Town’s official website as part of a “Business Spotlight” section, emphasizing the 
Company’s relocation and impact on the local community. 



Economic Development Grant Agreement (Quorum II Plaza) – EXHIBIT B 
27692315 v1 

20 

☐ Agree
Participation in Economic Development Events
Participate in Town-sponsored economic development or business promotion events, such as
ribbon-cutting ceremonies, public forums, or panels.

☐ Agree
Social Media Collaborations
Collaborate with the Town on social media campaigns, including shared posts, business highlights,
and community engagement content.

☐ Agree
Community Engagement Projects
Partner with the Town on community projects, such as charitable events, volunteer programs, or
sponsorships of public services (e.g., park improvements, local charity support).

☐ Agree
Use of Company’s Name in Town Publications
Allow the Town to reference the Company in town-related publications, including annual reports or
development updates.

☐ Agree

Acknowledgment and Authorization 

By marking each applicable checkbox above, the Company authorizes the Town of Addison to 
proceed with the selected marketing and promotional activities as outlined in this checklist, subject 
to the terms of the Agreement. 

Company Representative Signature: ________________________ 

Date: ________________________ 



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 5. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: Airport
Key Focus Areas: Economic Development and Revitalization

AGENDA CAPTION:
Hold a public hearing, present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution approving the financing
and refinancing of a project for the development of airport facilities at the Addison Airport solely for the
purpose of Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and Section
66.0304(11)(A) of the Wisconsin Statutes, as amended.

BACKGROUND:
The Town of Addison has a long-term ground lease agreement with Addison Hangars, LLC (“Addison
Hangars”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Sky Harbour Capital LLC (“Sky Harbour”). Addison Hangars
financed the design, construction, and operation of their Phase 1 aeronautical facility (the “Project” as
described below) with loan proceeds from private activity bonds (“PABs”) issued by the Public Finance
Authority (PFA). Addison Hangars is requesting that the Addison City Council hold a public hearing to
re-approve the issuance of the PABs to finance Phase 2 of the Addison Hangars Project, solely to
satisfy the requirements of Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), and Section 66.0304(11)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes, as amended (the “PFA Act”). Because
the PFA is Wisconsin-based, the Town and Sky Harbour must abide by the Wisconsin Statutes for this
process.

In August 2021, Sky Harbour secured $166.34 million in financing through the sale of Series 2021
PABs, tax-exempt senior bonds issued via the Public Finance Authority, to fund the acquisition and
development of a portfolio of aircraft hangar projects nationwide. As part of this financing plan, Sky
Harbour committed $68 million in equity to the program.

Sky Harbour and its subsidiaries, including Addison Hangars, LLC; Sky Harbour Sugar Land Airport
(Houston), LLC; Sky Harbour Opa Locka Airport (Miami), LLC; Nashville Hangars, LLC; APA Hangars,
LLC (Denver Centennial); and DVT Hangar, LLC (Phoenix Deer Valley), qualify as projects under the
financing plan and as the “obligated group,” with their leasehold interests and building improvements,
on a joint and several basis, securing the bonds, while their operating revenues are used to repay
them.

The Public Finance Authority (“PFA”) was created by local governments for local governments to issue
nationwide tax-exempt conduit bonds for development projects considered “qualified private activities”
that pose no risk to taxpayers or any state or local government. Qualified projects that can be financed
through public activity bonds include airport development and redevelopment.

In accordance with Section 147(f) of the Code and other applicable regulations: Project Description
(Phase II): The design, construction, and operation of an executive aeronautical hangar development
on a 6.5-acre site at Addison Airport in the Town of Addison, TX, consisting of one (1)
17,100-square-foot private jet hangar, one (1) 17,700-square-foot private jet hangar, and two (2)
36,740-square-foot semi-private jet hangars.

FISCAL IMPACT
There is no direct fiscal impact to the Town. Private Activity Bonds do not constitute: 



There is no direct fiscal impact to the Town. Private Activity Bonds do not constitute: 
A debt, loan of credit, or a pledge of the full faith and credit or taxing power of PFA, the Town, or
the State of Texas;
A monetary liability of the Public Finance Authority, the Town, or the State of Texas; or
A contingent liability or obligation, charged directly or indirectly against the general credit of PFA,
the Town, or the State of Texas.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Presentation - Addison Hangars Project Financing 
Resolution - Addison Hangars Project Financing 
Property Location 



Addison Hangars Proposed
 Project Financing

December 9, 2025

Addison Airport Director, Jaime Edrosa

1 1



Background

The Town has a long-term ground lease with Addison Hangars, wholly owned by Sky Habour Group 
Corporation.

History

• June 28, 2022 – Ground Lease entered for a 40-year term.
• Redevelop 6.05 acres to include 101,000 square feet of executive hangar and office space (Phase I).
• Substantially completed in March 2025.

• January 10, 2023 – Town executed First Amendment to the Ground Lease.
• Tenant to redevelop an additional 6.06 acres of airport land (Phase II).
• Expand the home-based executive / corporate jet hangar campus with four additional executive jet 

hangars consisting of 108,320 building square feet of hangar and office / shop space.
• Construction to begin in January 2026.

2

https://agendas.addisontx.gov/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL&get_month=6&get_year=2022&dsp=agm&seq=4317&rev=0&ag=6878&ln=30449&nseq=4345&nrev=0&pseq=&prev=
https://agendas.addisontx.gov/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL&get_month=6&get_year=2022&dsp=agm&seq=4317&rev=0&ag=6878&ln=30449&nseq=4345&nrev=0&pseq=&prev=
https://agendas.addisontx.gov/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL&get_month=1&get_year=2023&dsp=agm&seq=4608&rev=0&ag=6973&ln=31721&nseq=4596&nrev=0&pseq=4616&prev=0
https://agendas.addisontx.gov/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL&get_month=1&get_year=2023&dsp=agm&seq=4608&rev=0&ag=6973&ln=31721&nseq=4596&nrev=0&pseq=4616&prev=0


Background – Sky Harbour Corporation

• New York-based aviation development company serving as a “Home Base 
Operator” for corporate and private executive flight departments.

• Publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: SKYH).

• Builds private hangar campuses with a full suite of dedicated services for 
based aircraft.

• Has projects in 20 airports including: Houston / Sugar Land, Nashville, 
Miami, Denver, Phoenix, Hartford, Trenton, L.A., San Jose, and Seattle.

• Sky Harbour’s management team consists of seasoned professionals 
who combine aviation experience with a strong real estate development 
pedigree.

3



Proposal

Sky Harbour Capital, LLC, parent to Addison Hangars, LLC is 
requesting that the Addison City Council to approve the 
issuance of private activity bonds (PABs) issued by the Public
Finance Authority (PFA) solely to satisfy the requirements of 
Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”) and Section 66.0304(11)(a) of the 
Wisconsin Statutes*, as amended (the “PFA Act”).

*Note: Because the PFA is based in Wisconsin, the Town and 
Sky Harbour must abide by the Wisconsin Statutes during this 
process.

4



Proposed Phase II Redevelopment

Phase II Site Plan - Four executive jet hangars at approximately 86,000 square feet, 
including 21,720 square feet of related office and shop space for aviation use.

Phase I

Phase II

5



• August 2021 – Sky Harbour secured $166.34 million in financing through the sale of Series 
2021 PABs, tax-exempt senior bonds issued via the Public Finance Authority (PFA).

• Sky Harbour Capital contributed $68 million as equity.
• Phase I was completed under this financing structure. Sky Harbour plans to add Phase II 

to the same program.
• The bonds will be secured by the leasehold interests and building improvements of all the 

qualifying projects* financed through the program by Sky Harbour, including Addison 
Hangars, LLC.

• The bonds will be repaid from the operating revenues from all the qualifying projects.

Proposed Development Financing

*Qualifying Projects = Addison Hangars, LLC; Sky Harbour Sugar Land Airport (Houston), LLC; Sky Harbour 
Opa Locka Airport (Miami), LLC; Nashville Hangars, LLC; APA Hangars, LLC (Denver Centennial); and DVT 
Hangar, LLC (Phoenix Deer Valley).

6



Proposed Development Financing

7

• The PFA was created by local governments for local governments to issue 
tax-exempt conduit bonds for private development that benefits the public.

These PBAs do not constitute a:
• Debt, loan of credit, or a pledge of the full faith and credit or taxing power 

of the Town; or
• Monetary liability of the Town; or
• Contingent liability or obligation, charge directly or indirectly against the 

general credit of the Town.

• The bond purchaser generally has the same rights and remedies as any 
other leasehold mortgagee at the Airport (e.g., right to cure tenant lease 
default, take possession of the leasehold in event of loan default).



Proposed Development Financing

Town’s Obligation:

As the host jurisdiction, the Town is required to hold a public hearing and 
approve the issuance of the bonds to finance or refinance the project in 
satisfaction of Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code and Section 
66.0304(11)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes, whereby the Public Finance 
Authority is authorized to issue the bonds subject to:

• Notice of Public Hearing being advertised on or before December 2, 2025; 
and

• Public hearing held, and council approval of the Resolution.

8



Recommendation

Staff recommends approval.

9



Questions?

10



 

Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ________   
   
  
 Page 1 of 4 

RESOLUTION NO. R25-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE TOWN OF ADDISION, 
TEXAS, APPROVING THE FINANCING AND REFINANCING OF A PROJECT 
FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF AIRPORT FACILITIES AT THE ADDISON 
AIRPORT SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF SECTION 147(f) OF THE 
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 
66.0304(11)(A) OF THE WISCONSIN STATUTES, AS AMENDED. 

WHEREAS, Addison Hangars LLC, or another affiliate of Sky Harbour Capital LLC (the 
“Borrower”), has requested the Public Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) to issue its revenue bonds 
in one or more series from time to time (the “PFA Bonds”) and to loan the proceeds thereof to the 
Borrower for the purpose of financing and refinancing the Project (as defined in the attached 
Exhibit A); and 

WHEREAS, a notice of public hearing was posted not less than seven days prior to the 
date hereof, a copy of which notice is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and  

WHEREAS, on December 9, 2025, a public hearing was held at a meeting starting at 7:30 
p.m. at the Town Hall located at 15600 Addison Road, Addison, Texas 75001 with respect to the 
issuance of the PFA Bonds; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Town of Addison, Texas, acting through 
its City Council (the “Council”), approve, as the host jurisdiction of the Project, the issuance of 
the PFA Bonds to finance and refinance the Project, solely in order to satisfy the requirements of 
Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and Section 
66.0304(11)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes, as amended (the “PFA Act”). 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF ADDISON, 
TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. Solely for purposes of Section 147(f) of the Code and Section 66.0304(11)(a) 
of the PFA Act, the issuance of the PFA Bonds to finance and refinance the Project is hereby 
approved. 

SECTION 2. The PFA Bonds, when and if issued, shall not be deemed an obligation of 
the Town of Addison, Texas, the State of Texas, nor any other political subdivision thereof. 

SECTION 3. The Council does hereby approve the issuance of the PFA Bonds solely for 
the purposes of Section 147(f) of the Code and Section 66.0304(11)(a) of the PFA Act. 

SECTION 4. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.  



 

Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ________   
   
  
 Page 2 of 4 

 DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, 
Texas, on this the 9th day of DECEMBER 2025. 
 

TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 

 
 
             

Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 
 

ATTEST:  

 
 
       
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary 



 

Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ________   
   
  
 Page 3 of 4 

Exhibit A 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a public hearing will be held by the Town of Addison, 
Texas (the “Town”), on December 9, 2025, at a meeting starting at 7:30 p.m. local time (CT), or as 
soon thereafter as the matter can be heard, at the hearing address set forth below, regarding the 
proposed issuance by the Public Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) of its revenue bonds in one or more 
series from time to time pursuant to a plan of financing, in an amount to be issued with respect to the 
Project described below of not to exceed $95,000,000 (the “Bonds”).  The public hearing is required 
by Section 147(f) of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  The Project, the owner 
of the Project, the initial occupant of the Project, the Borrower of the proceeds of the Bonds, and the 
location of the Project are further described below:  

A. Airport Owner:  Town of Addison, Texas 

B. Initial Occupant/Borrower: Addison Hangars LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company or, another authorized affiliate of Sky Harbour Capital LLC 

C. Description of Project: This project includes the development of a general aviation and 
aircraft storage facility at Addison Airport in Addison, Texas (“ADS”), comprising four hangars 
aggregating approximately 86,600 square feet, including approximately 21,720 square feet of related 
office space for aviation use, and adjacent vehicle access, parking and landscape/hardscape 
improvements. 

D. Project Location: 4505 Claire Chennault,  Addison, Dallas County, Texas 75001. 

E. Maximum amount of Bonds to be issued with respect to the Project: $95,000,000.  

The Bonds, including the principal of (premium, if any) and interest thereon, do not constitute 
a debt or a loan of credit or a pledge of the full faith and credit or taxing power of the Issuer, the Town, 
the State of Texas, or any political subdivision thereof, within the meaning of any State Constitutional 
provision or statutory limitation and shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the 
Issuer, the Town, the State of Texas, or any political subdivision thereof. The Bonds shall not 
constitute, directly or indirectly, or contingently obligate or otherwise constitute a general obligation 
of or a charge against the general credit of the Issuer, the Town, the State of Texas, or any political 
subdivision thereof, but shall be special limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the 
sources provided for in the proceedings for the issuance of the Bonds. The Issuer has no taxing power. 

At the time set for the public hearing, interested persons will be given a reasonable opportunity 
to express their views, both orally and in writing, on the merits of the Project, the location of the 
Project, the issuance of the Bonds, the plan of financing, or related matters. Members of the public 
may attend the hearing in person at the following address: 15600 Addison Road, Addison, TX 75001. 
Persons wishing to participate should submit a written request to speak to vgarcia@addisontx.gov  
(Town of Addison City Secretary) or via online by accessing the Town of Addison's Meetings & 
Agendas webpage (www.AddisonTx.gov/government/Meetings-Agendas) at least 24 hours before the 
hearing; however, the hearing officer will also provide a time for additional comments at the end of 
the hearing.  Oral remarks may not exceed three minutes in duration. Written comments may be 

mailto:vgarcia@addisontx.gov
https://www.addisontx.gov/Government/Meetings-Agendas
https://www.addisontx.gov/Government/Meetings-Agendas
http://www.addisontx.gov/government/Meetings-Agendas


 

Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. ________   
   
  
 Page 4 of 4 

submitted to the Town, on behalf of the Issuer, electronically at vgarcia@addisontx.gov and via 
physical delivery at the following address: 15600 Addison Road, Addison, TX 75001, Attention: Town 
of Addison City Secretary, until the time and date of the hearing (subject to the timing limitations of 
mail delivery).   

DATE OF NOTICE:  December 2, 2025   TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 

mailto:vgarcia@addisontx.gov


Addison Hangars Project Location Map 

Location of Addison Hangars, LLC Phase I and Phase II Redevelopment Projects at Addison 
Airport. Addison Hangars, LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sky Harbour Group, LLC. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: Development Services
Key Focus Areas: Public Safety

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present, discuss, and consider action on a request for an Alternative Sign Design to Article 5 of the
Unified Development Ordinance (UDC) for Jefferson Aero, a new multi-family complex located at 4800
Airport Parkway, in order to allow a detached monument sign to exceed the maximum height. (Case
MR2025-02/4800 Airport Parkway).

BACKGROUND:
Jefferson Aero is a new multi-family complex currently under construction at the southeast corner of
Addison Road and Airport Parkway, addressed as 4800 Airport Parkway. Jefferson Aero has submitted
a request for an Alternative Sign Design to accommodate one detached monument sign at the
southwest corner of the building, which is proposed to exceed the maximum height. The proposed
single-tenant detached monument sign is 10 feet tall, exceeding the maximum allowed height by four
(4) feet. All other applicable standards are met with the proposed sign. 

The Unified Development Code (UDC) allows for Alternative Sign Design requests, formerly known as
Meritorious Exceptions, to the sign regulations. Section 5.9.6 of the UDC states that "It is not the
intention of these regulations to discourage innovation. Applications for alternative sign designs may be
submitted that, while clearly not conforming to this section and thus not allowable under these criteria,
have obvious merit in not only being appropriate to the particular site or location, but also in making a
positive contribution to the visual environment." 

City Council may approve an alternative sign design if it:  

Is necessary because enforcement of the requirement prevents any reasonable opportunity to
provide adequate signs on the site, considering the unique features of a site including its
dimensions, landscaping, or topography;

1.

Will not have a substantially adverse effect on neighboring properties; and2.
Will not substantially conflict with the purpose and standards of this article.3.

Staff has reviewed the proposal for Jefferson Aero for an alternative sign design and believes the
criteria have been met.

Jefferson Aero was designed under the Urban Center zoning district, which encourages urban,
pedestrian-focused development. The proposed height deviation for the detached monument sign is
necessary due to restrictions caused by minimal setbacks, visibility triangles, and site conditions,
ultimately limiting sign opportunities for vehicular and pedestrian traffic on Addison Road. The proposed
sign is unlikely to cause adverse impacts on neighboring properties while appropriately identifying the
entrance to the parking garage for the site.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Town staff has reviewed the proposal and determined that it does comply with the Town’s criteria for
Alternative Sign Design.



Attachments
MR2025-02 - Presentation 
MR2025-02 - Ordinance 
MR2025-02 - Plans 



Jefferson Aero
Alternative Sign Design

 (MR2025-02)

1

December 9, 2025

Lesley Nyp, Director of Development & 
Neighborhood Services



Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero

LOCATION:
4800 Airport Parkway

REQUEST:
Approval of an Alternative Sign Design to allow a 
detached monument sign to exceed the maximum 
height.

ACTION REQUIRED:
Discuss and consider action on the appropriateness
of the proposed Alternative Sign Design request. 

2



3

Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero

Addison 
Road



4

Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero



5

Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero

SIGN CODE COMPLIANCE REVIEW
• The detached monument sign exceeds the current 

maximum height for a single-tenant sign: 
• Required: 6 Feet 
• Proposed: 10 Feet

• Applicant Justification: 
• Opportunities for signage for traffic on Addison 

Road are limited due to setbacks, visibility 
triangles, site conditions. These limitations do 
not allow a traditional monument sign. 

• The proposed monolith-style sign will allow 
visibility to the parking garage entrance along 
the south facade.



ALTERNATIVE SIGN DESIGN PURPOSE:

• It is not the intention of these regulations to discourage innovation. Applications for 
alternative sign designs may be submitted that, while clearly not conforming to this 
section and thus not allowable under these criteria, have obvious merit in not only 
being appropriate to the particular site or location, but also in making a positive 
contribution to the visual environment.

6

Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero



ALTERNATIVE SIGN DESIGN CRITERIA:

1. Is necessary because enforcement of the requirement prevents any reasonable 
opportunity to provide adequate signs on the site, considering the unique features of a 
site including its dimensions, landscaping, or topography;

2. Will not have a substantially adverse effect on neighboring properties; and
3. Will not substantially conflict with the purpose and standards of this article.

Proposal does meet hardship criteria:

• The building envelope, which is consistent with the Addison Circle District, limits 
opportunity for detached signage. The proposed sign would allow detached signage 
targeted toward pedestrian and vehicular traffic on Addison Road.

• The UDC sign regulations do not account for a monolith sign.
• Staff does not anticipate adverse impacts on neighboring properties or will conflict with 

the purpose or standards of the sign regulations.
7

Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero



RECOMMENDATION:

Town staff has reviewed the proposal and determined that it does comply 
with the Town’s criteria for Alternative Sign Design.

8

Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero



Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 1 of 6 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS, GRANTING A 

ALTERNATIVE SIGN DESIGN TO SECTION 5.9 OF THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 

CODE (UDC), WITHIN APPENDIX A OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR 

JEFFERSON AERO, A MULTI-FAMILY COMPLEX LOCATED AT 4800 AIRPORT 

PARKWAY, TO ALLOW A DETACHED MONUMENT SIGN TO EXCEED THE 

MAXIMUM HEIGHT; PROVIDING A PENALTY NOT TO EXCEED FIVE HUNDRED 

DOLLARS ($500.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 5.9 of the Unified Development Code, within Appendix A of the 

Code of Ordinances, regulates signage in the Town of Addison; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 5.9.6 permits the City Council to approve alternative designs to 

provisions of Section 5.9 in cases that have obvious merit in not only being appropriate to the 

particular site or location, but also in making a positive contribution to the visual environment; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that the grant of the alternative sign design 

contained herein is in the best interest of the public and positively contributes to the visual aesthetic 

of the Town.   

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS: 

 

 SECTION 1.  The recitals and findings set forth above are hereby found to be true and 

correct and incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 

 

 SECTION 2.  A alternative sign design to Section 5.9 of the Unified Development Code, 

within Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances, is hereby granted for Jefferson Aero, a multi-family 

complex located at 4800 Airport Parkway, to allow a detached monument sign to exceed the 

maximum height, as depicted in Exhibit A. Except as permitted herein, all other signage on the 

property shall comply with Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances. 

 

 SECTION 3.  Any person, firm, corporation or other business entity violating any of the 

provisions or terms of this Ordinance shall, in accordance with the Town of Addison Code of 

Ordinances, be fined, upon conviction, in an amount of not more than Five Hundred and No/00 

Dollars ($500.00), and a separate offense shall be deemed committed each day during or on which 

a violation occurs or continues.  

 

 SECTION 4.  This ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage and 

approval and after publication as may be required by law or by the City Charter or ordinance. 

 

 

 



Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 2 of 6 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, Texas, on 

this the 9TH day of DECEMBER 2025. 
 

 

 

TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 
 

 

 

             
Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

              
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary Whitt Wyatt, City Attorney



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 3 of 6 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 4 of 6 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 5 of 6 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 6 of 6 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 

 
 



CODE ANALYSIS (ORDINANCE CHAPTER 62, SEC 62-183-186):

DETACHED MONOLITH MONUMENT - SOUTH ELEV - SIGN E

* EXCEPTION

PROPOSED SIGN SETBACK 22 FEET

PROPOSED SIGN FACE AREA PER SIDE 20 SF 

PROPOSED SIGN HEIGHT IS 10 FT

(62-186) MIN SIGN SETBACK FOR MONUMENT SIGNS 20 FEET

(62-186-1) SIGN FACE SHALL NOT EXCEED 48 SF AREA PER SIDE

(62-186-1) SIGN HIEGHT WITH BASE SHALL NOT EXCEED 6 FT

©2024

SOUTH ELEVATION
MONUMENT SIGN

SEMS.02.00

12/06/2024

JEH/MG

2209JPI02S

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 A
e
ro

JP
I R

ea
lt

y
A

d
d

is
o

n
, T

ex
as

E ILLUMINATED MONOLITH

356 ft - 0 in

6
1 

ft
 -

 6
 i
n



©2024

SOUTH ELEVATION
MONUMENT SIGN

SEMS.02.00

12/06/2024

JEH/MG

2209JPI02S

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 A
e
ro

JP
I R

ea
lt

y
A

d
d

is
o

n
, T

ex
as

22 ft - 0 in



©2024

SOUTH ELEVATION
MONUMENT SIGN

SEMS.02.00

12/06/2024

JEH/MG

2209JPI02S

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 A
e
ro

JP
I R

ea
lt

y
A

d
d

is
o

n
, T

ex
as



©2024

SOUTH ELEVATION
MONUMENT SIGN

SEMS.02.00

12/06/2024

JEH/MG

2209JPI02S

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 A
e
ro

JP
I R

ea
lt

y
A

d
d

is
o

n
, T

ex
as



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: Development Services
Key Focus Areas: Public Safety

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present, discuss, and consider action on a request for an Alternative Sign Design to Article 5 of the
Unified Development Ordinance (UDC) for Quorum II shopping center, located at 4900 Belt Line Road,
in order to allow a detached monument sign to exceed the maximum height and maximum area. (Case
MR2025-03/4900 Belt Line Road).

BACKGROUND:
Quorum II is an existing multi-tenant retail center located at 4900 Belt Line Road. Under new
ownership, the property is undergoing reinvestment efforts to enhance its overall appearance. As part of
these improvements, the applicant is requesting approval of an Alternative Sign Design to replace the
existing pole signs along Belt Line Road with two new detached monument signs. The proposed
multi-tenant monument signs would exceed the maximum height and sign area allowed by the Sign
Code, with a height of 20 feet (12 feet above the permitted maximum) and a sign area of 190 square
feet (118 square feet above the permitted maximum). All other applicable standards are met.

The Unified Development Code (UDC) allows for Alternative Sign Design requests, formerly known as
Meritorious Exceptions, to the sign regulations. Section 5.9.6 of the UDC states that "It is not the
intention of these regulations to discourage innovation. Applications for alternative sign designs may be
submitted that, while clearly not conforming to this section and thus not allowable under these criteria,
have obvious merit in not only being appropriate to the particular site or location, but also in making a
positive contribution to the visual environment." 

City Council may approve an alternative sign design if it:  

Is necessary because enforcement of the requirement prevents any reasonable opportunity to
provide adequate signs on the site, considering the unique features of a site including its
dimensions, landscaping, or topography;

1.

Will not have a substantially adverse effect on neighboring properties; and2.
Will not substantially conflict with the purpose and standards of this article.3.

Staff has reviewed the proposal for Quorum II for an alternative sign design and believes the criteria
have been met.

Quorum II is an aging retail center and new, architecturally enhanced signage will create a positive
contribution to the visual environment. The Town's sign regulations do not contemplate standards for a
hybrid pole/monument sign design and also limit opportunities for architectural elements to a sign due
to the methodology for calculating sign area as the total extent of the sign structure. The proposed sign
does not exceed the maximum height of a pole sign and the cabinet area, which advertises the
businesses on site, is approximately 77 square feet, which is consistent with the maximum allowed
area of 72 square feet. The proposed sign is unlikely to cause adverse impacts on neighboring
properties.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION



Town staff has reviewed the proposal and determined that it does comply with the Town’s criteria for
Alternative Sign Design.

Attachments
MR2025-03 - Presentation 
MR2025-03 - Ordinance 
MR2025-03 - Plans 



Quorum II
Alternative Sign Design

 (MR2025-03)

1

December 9, 2025

Lesley Nyp, Director of Development & 
Neighborhood Services



Case MR2025-03 Quorum II

LOCATION:
4900 Belt Line Road (Quorum II Retail Center)

REQUEST:
Approval of an Alternative Sign Design to allow a 
detached monument sign to exceed the maximum 
height and maximum area.

ACTION REQUIRED:
Discuss and consider action on the appropriateness
of the proposed Alternative Sign Design request. 

2



3

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II



4

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II



5

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II

SIGN CODE COMPLIANCE REVIEW
• The detached monument sign exceeds the current 

maximum height and area for a multi-tenant sign: 
• Required Height: 8 Feet 
• Proposed Height: 20 Feet
• Required Area: 72 Square Feet 
• Proposed Area: 190 Square Feet 

• Applicant Justification: 
• Desires for a more architecturally interesting and 

appealing sign design than the base sign code 
allows. This is one of several site enhancements 
that is proposed to revitalize the retail center. 



6

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II

SIGN CODE COMPLIANCE REVIEW
• Sign Measurement & Calculations

• Sign area is calculated as the area enclosed by 
drawing a rectangle of horizontal and vertical 
lines that fully contain all extremities of the sign, 
including architectural design elements such as 
decorative bordering, but exclusive of the sign 
supports.



ALTERNATIVE SIGN DESIGN PURPOSE:

• It is not the intention of these regulations to discourage innovation. Applications for 
alternative sign designs may be submitted that, while clearly not conforming to this 
section and thus not allowable under these criteria, have obvious merit in not only 
being appropriate to the particular site or location, but also in making a positive 
contribution to the visual environment.

7

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II



ALTERNATIVE SIGN DESIGN CRITERIA:
1. Is necessary because enforcement of the requirement prevents any reasonable opportunity 

to provide adequate signs on the site, considering the unique features of a site including its 
dimensions, landscaping, or topography;

2. Will not have a substantially adverse effect on neighboring properties; and
3. Will not substantially conflict with the purpose and standards of this article.

Proposal does meet hardship criteria:
• The sign cabinet, which advertises the businesses, is approximately 77 square feet, which is 

consistent with the maximum allowed area. The additional architectural elements, which 
create a positive contribution to the visual environment, cause the total area to significantly 
exceed the allowable area. 

• The UDC sign regulations do not account for a hybrid pole/monument sign design. The 
proposed sign is consistent with the maximum height for a pole sign.

• Staff does not anticipate adverse impacts on neighboring properties or will conflict with the 
purpose or standards of the sign regulations.

8

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II



RECOMMENDATION:

Town staff has reviewed the proposal and determined that it does comply 
with the Town’s criteria for Alternative Sign Design.

9

Case MR2025-03 Quorum II



Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 1 of 5 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS, GRANTING A 

ALTERNATIVE SIGN DESIGN TO SECTION 5.9 OF THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 

CODE (UDC), WITHIN APPENDIX A OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR 

QUORUM II, A RETAIL CENTER LOCATED AT 4900 BELT LINE ROAD, TO ALLOW 

A DETACHED MONUMENT SIGN TO EXCEED THE MAXIMUM HEIGHT AND 

MAXIMUM AREA; PROVIDING A PENALTY NOT TO EXCEED FIVE HUNDRED 

DOLLARS ($500.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 5.9 of the Unified Development Code, within Appendix A of the 

Code of Ordinances, regulates signage in the Town of Addison; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 5.9.6 permits the City Council to approve alternative designs to 

provisions of Section 5.9 in cases that have obvious merit in not only being appropriate to the 

particular site or location, but also in making a positive contribution to the visual environment; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that the grant of the alternative sign design 

contained herein is in the best interest of the public and positively contributes to the visual aesthetic 

of the Town.   

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS: 

 

 SECTION 1.  The recitals and findings set forth above are hereby found to be true and 

correct and incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 

 

 SECTION 2.  A alternative sign design to Section 5.9 of the Unified Development Code, 

within Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances, is hereby granted for Quorum II, a retail center 

located at 4900 Belt Line Road, to allow a detached monument sign to exceed the maximum height 

and maximum area, as depicted in Exhibit A. Except as permitted herein, all other signage on the 

property shall comply with Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances. 

 

 SECTION 3.  Any person, firm, corporation or other business entity violating any of the 

provisions or terms of this Ordinance shall, in accordance with the Town of Addison Code of 

Ordinances, be fined, upon conviction, in an amount of not more than Five Hundred and No/00 

Dollars ($500.00), and a separate offense shall be deemed committed each day during or on which 

a violation occurs or continues.  

 

 SECTION 4.  This ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage and 

approval and after publication as may be required by law or by the City Charter or ordinance. 

 

 

 



Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 2 of 5 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, Texas, on 

this the 9TH day of DECEMBER 2025. 
 

 

 

TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 
 

 

 

             
Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

              
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary Whitt Wyatt, City Attorney



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 3 of 5 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 4 of 5 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

Town of Addison, Texas 

Ordinance No.           Page 5 of 5 

Case No. MR2025-2/Jefferson Aero 

 

 
 



Alex Teator

ALL CHANGES MUST BE INITIALED BY
CLIENT AND ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE ON
FINAL APPROVED PRINT.

CLIENT

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE KD
523 E. ROCK ISLAND
GRAND PRAIRIE,  TX  75050

TOLL FREE  (800) 810-3044

METRO         (972) 399-0333

FAX               (972) 986-4456

FAX               (800) 810-3045

This drawing is the exclusive property of Accent Graphics, Inc.
and is the result of the original work of its employees.  The plans
are provided to your company for the sole purpose of considering
the purchase of a sign manufactured by Accent Graphics, Inc.
based on these plans  OR  the purchase of the plans and design
concepts contained therein for manufacture elsewhere.  Distribu-
tion or exhibition of the plans to anyone outside of your company
or the use of the plans by others to manufacture or design a
similar sign as displayed in the plans is expressly forbidden.  In
the event that such exhibition occurs, Accent Graphics will expect
payment of a minimum $2000 design fee in recompense for the
time and effort entailed to produce the plans.

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVEDESIGNER

INSTALLATION ADDRESS

CLIENT

DATE SHEET OF DESIGN #

STORE #

250318-05

QUORUM II

03-28-2025 6
EMAIL    
WEBSITE        www.accentgraphicsinc.com

Regulated by the   Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation     P. O. Box 12157,  Austin, TX 78711      Tel: 512.463.6599     Toll Free (in TX): 800.803.9202     Online:  http://www.license.state.tx.us/complaints     State of Texas Contractor #18050

Gerber FILE = 
Corel FILE =

 4900 Belt Line Road | Addison, TX 75254

09-04-2025 REVISE PYLON SIZE PER CONST. DOCUMENT FOR PRICING 1½ KD

09-09-2025 REVISE W/ 11 TENANT PANEL SPACES ½ KD

10-07-2025 REVISE PER CITY COMMENTS, ADD NEW SITE PLAN, SHOW

MASONRY ATTACMENT DETAIL, COVE LIGHTS, & SIGN CONST. 3 KD

523 E. Rock Island | Grand Prairie, TX 75050 | CONTACT: Alex Teator - Senior Account Executive, | 972.399.0333 | www.accentgraphicsinca.teator@accentgraphicsinc.com .com

QUORUM II



Alex Teator

ALL CHANGES MUST BE INITIALED BY
CLIENT AND ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE ON
FINAL APPROVED PRINT.

CLIENT

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE KD
523 E. ROCK ISLAND
GRAND PRAIRIE,  TX  75050

TOLL FREE  (800) 810-3044

METRO         (972) 399-0333

FAX               (972) 986-4456

FAX               (800) 810-3045

This drawing is the exclusive property of Accent Graphics, Inc.
and is the result of the original work of its employees.  The plans
are provided to your company for the sole purpose of considering
the purchase of a sign manufactured by Accent Graphics, Inc.
based on these plans  OR  the purchase of the plans and design
concepts contained therein for manufacture elsewhere.  Distribu-
tion or exhibition of the plans to anyone outside of your company
or the use of the plans by others to manufacture or design a
similar sign as displayed in the plans is expressly forbidden.  In
the event that such exhibition occurs, Accent Graphics will expect
payment of a minimum $2000 design fee in recompense for the
time and effort entailed to produce the plans.

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVEDESIGNER

INSTALLATION ADDRESS

CLIENT

DATE SHEET OF DESIGN #

STORE #

250318-05

QUORUM II

03-28-2025 6
EMAIL    
WEBSITE        www.accentgraphicsinc.com

Regulated by the   Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation     P. O. Box 12157,  Austin, TX 78711      Tel: 512.463.6599     Toll Free (in TX): 800.803.9202     Online:  http://www.license.state.tx.us/complaints     State of Texas Contractor #18050

Gerber FILE = 
Corel FILE =

 4900 Belt Line Road | Addison, TX 75254

1

09-04-2025 REVISE PYLON SIZE PER CONST. DOCUMENT FOR PRICING 1½ KD

09-09-2025 REVISE W/ 11 TENANT PANEL SPACES ½ KD

10-07-2025 REVISE PER CITY COMMENTS, ADD NEW SITE PLAN, SHOW

MASONRY ATTACMENT DETAIL, COVE LIGHTS, & SIGN CONST. 3 KD

B

A

WALL SIGN SCHEDULE

D/F PYLON 1

1

200

200D/F PYLON

B A

1
0
'-
6
"

235’-6” SEPARATION

B A



Alex Teator

ALL CHANGES MUST BE INITIALED BY
CLIENT AND ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE ON
FINAL APPROVED PRINT.

CLIENT

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE KD
523 E. ROCK ISLAND
GRAND PRAIRIE,  TX  75050

TOLL FREE  (800) 810-3044

METRO         (972) 399-0333

FAX               (972) 986-4456

FAX               (800) 810-3045

This drawing is the exclusive property of Accent Graphics, Inc.
and is the result of the original work of its employees.  The plans
are provided to your company for the sole purpose of considering
the purchase of a sign manufactured by Accent Graphics, Inc.
based on these plans  OR  the purchase of the plans and design
concepts contained therein for manufacture elsewhere.  Distribu-
tion or exhibition of the plans to anyone outside of your company
or the use of the plans by others to manufacture or design a
similar sign as displayed in the plans is expressly forbidden.  In
the event that such exhibition occurs, Accent Graphics will expect
payment of a minimum $2000 design fee in recompense for the
time and effort entailed to produce the plans.

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVEDESIGNER

INSTALLATION ADDRESS

CLIENT

DATE SHEET OF DESIGN #

STORE #

250318-05

QUORUM II

03-28-2025 6
EMAIL    
WEBSITE        www.accentgraphicsinc.com

Regulated by the   Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation     P. O. Box 12157,  Austin, TX 78711      Tel: 512.463.6599     Toll Free (in TX): 800.803.9202     Online:  http://www.license.state.tx.us/complaints     State of Texas Contractor #18050

Gerber FILE = 
Corel FILE =

 4900 Belt Line Road | Addison, TX 75254

2

09-04-2025 REVISE PYLON SIZE PER CONST. DOCUMENT FOR PRICING 1½ KD

09-09-2025 REVISE W/ 11 TENANT PANEL SPACES ½ KD

10-07-2025 REVISE PER CITY COMMENTS, ADD NEW SITE PLAN, SHOW

MASONRY ATTACMENT DETAIL, COVE LIGHTS, & SIGN CONST. 3 KD

Scale:  1/32” = 1'-0"

1
0
'-
6

"

1
0
'-
0
”

ZOOMED IN VIEW OF 
MUTLI-TENANT PYLON 
LOCATIONS



Alex Teator

ALL CHANGES MUST BE INITIALED BY
CLIENT AND ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE ON
FINAL APPROVED PRINT.

CLIENT

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE KD
523 E. ROCK ISLAND
GRAND PRAIRIE,  TX  75050

TOLL FREE  (800) 810-3044

METRO         (972) 399-0333

FAX               (972) 986-4456

FAX               (800) 810-3045

This drawing is the exclusive property of Accent Graphics, Inc.
and is the result of the original work of its employees.  The plans
are provided to your company for the sole purpose of considering
the purchase of a sign manufactured by Accent Graphics, Inc.
based on these plans  OR  the purchase of the plans and design
concepts contained therein for manufacture elsewhere.  Distribu-
tion or exhibition of the plans to anyone outside of your company
or the use of the plans by others to manufacture or design a
similar sign as displayed in the plans is expressly forbidden.  In
the event that such exhibition occurs, Accent Graphics will expect
payment of a minimum $2000 design fee in recompense for the
time and effort entailed to produce the plans.

ACCOUNT EXECUTIVEDESIGNER

INSTALLATION ADDRESS

CLIENT

DATE SHEET OF DESIGN #

STORE #

250318-05

QUORUM II

03-28-2025 6
EMAIL    
WEBSITE        www.accentgraphicsinc.com

Regulated by the   Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation     P. O. Box 12157,  Austin, TX 78711      Tel: 512.463.6599     Toll Free (in TX): 800.803.9202     Online:  http://www.license.state.tx.us/complaints     State of Texas Contractor #18050

Gerber FILE = 
Corel FILE =

 4900 Belt Line Road | Addison, TX 75254

3

09-04-2025 REVISE PYLON SIZE PER CONST. DOCUMENT FOR PRICING 1½ KD

09-09-2025 REVISE W/ 11 TENANT PANEL SPACES ½ KD

10-07-2025 REVISE PER CITY COMMENTS, ADD NEW SITE PLAN, SHOW

MASONRY ATTACMENT DETAIL, COVE LIGHTS, & SIGN CONST. 3 KD

EAST PYLON EXISTING CONDITIONS

QUORUM II

2
0
’-
0
” 

O
.A

.H
E

IG
H

T

Scale:  1/4” = 1'-0"

D/F MULTI-TENANT PYLON (EAST)

QTY: (2) REQ’D

200 SQ. FT.

TOP CAP W/ FAUX-NEON COVE
ILLUMINATION

PLEX FACE CHANNEL 
LETTERS - FLUSH

.063 ALUMINUM PAINTED: 
TEXTURED DARK BROWN 

FIBER CEMENT PANELS
NICHIHA COLOR: GRAY

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED
MULTI-TENANT AREA W/
 2” RETAINERS & 1.5” DIV BARS

STONE VENEER BASE 
TYPE/ COLOR: TBD

21”

24”

12”

24”

2
4
 1

1
/1

6
"

1
4
”±

3
’-
9
 3

/8
”

1
2
'-
0
"

A  B

WEST PYLON EXISTING CONDITIONS

1
3
'-
9
 7

/8
"

4 1/16"

8’-1” 12"

21"

12"

21"10’-0”

10’-6”

2’-2”

2
’-
0

”

10’-6”

1
’-
9

”

1
'-
0

"

11
⅜

”
11

⅜
”

11
⅜

”
11

⅜
”

11
⅜

”
11

⅜
”

11
⅜

”
11

⅜
”

11
⅜

”
11

⅜
”

11
⅜

”

1
4
⅛

”
1
4
⅛

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”
1
2
⅞

”

80”

* ATTACHMENT DETAILS PG. 5



   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Manager
Key Focus Areas: Community Engagement

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution nominating four (4) citizens to serve on the
Planning & Zoning Commission for two-year terms commencing January 1, 2026, and providing an
effective date.

BACKGROUND:
Historically, the City Council reviews the standing board and commission memberships in the last
quarter of each calendar year.  Notifications were made to the community informing individuals
interested in serving on the Planning & Zoning Commission of the opportunity to apply.  The application
deadline was set for December 2, 2025.  All current Commission members with expiring terms were
notified and were asked to complete and submit a new application indicating their interest in continuing
their service. City Council members have been provided with a complete list of applicants and their
respective applications.

The Planning & Zoning Commission has four (4) members with terms expiring on December 31, 2025.
 The table below indicates the Commissioners' terms and other important information. Commission
members may serve up to three (3) consecutive two-year terms. The next term of service begins in
January 2026 and expires in December 2027.
  

Place Current Commissioner Previous Nominating
Council Member

Next Nominating
Council Member

4 Tom Braun N. Craig R. Smith
5 Jimmy Barker M. Willesen M. Willesen
6 EJ Copeland D. Liscio D. Liscio
7 Chelsey Smith B. Arfsten B. Arfsten

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Staff seeks Council direction on nominations.

Attachments
Presentation - 2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations 
Resolution - 2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations 
2026 Boards & Commissions Applicant Summary 



2026 Planning & Zoning 
Commission 
Nominations

1

December 9, 2025

Valencia Garcia, City Secretary



Background

• Historically, Council reviews boards & commissions memberships to make 
appointments during the last quarter of the calendar year. 

• Notifications were made to the community informing individuals interested in 
serving on the Planning & Zoning Commission of the opportunity to apply. 

• Current Commissioners with expiring terms were notified and asked to submit 
a new application to seek re-appointment.

• Application deadline was December 2, 2025. 
• Council was provided with a complete list of applicants and their respective 

applications.

2



2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations

• The Planning & Zoning Commission has four (4) Commissioners with terms expiring on 
December 31, 2025.

• Commissioners may serve up to three (3) consecutive two-year terms. 
• The next term of service begins in January 2026 and expires in December 2027.

Place Current Commissioner Previous Nominating 
Council Member

Next Nominating 
Council Member

4 Tom Braun N. Craig R. Smith

5 Jimmy Barker M. Willesen M. Willesen

6 EJ Copeland D. Liscio D. Liscio

7 Chelsey Smith B. Arfsten B. Arfsten

3



To make 2026 nominations:

Each nominating Council Member must make an individual motion for their 
nomination:

• Mayor Arfsten
• Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen
• Council Member Liscio
• Council Member Smith 

Each motion requires a vote of entire Council to pass.

4

2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations



Questions?

5



Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. R25- Page 1 of 1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R25- 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, 
TEXAS NOMINATING FOUR MEMBERS TO SERVE ON THE PLANNING 
& ZONING COMMISSION FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM COMMENCING 
JANUARY 1, 2026 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 2 of the Town of Addison Code of Ordinances, the 
Addison Planning & Zoning Commission is comprised of seven (7) members serving a two- 
year term; and 

 
WHEREAS, the terms for the current Planning & Zoning Commission members 

serving in Place 4, Place 5, Place 6, and Place 7 will expire on December 31, 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town solicited applications from all residents of the Town for 
nominations to the Town's Boards and Commissions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 
OF ADDISON, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. The following nominations are made to the Addison Planning & Zoning 
Commission to serve two-year terms ending on December 31, 2027 or until their successor 
is appointed and duly authorized to serve. 

 
Place # Appt. By: Appointment 

4 R. Smith  

5 M. Willesen  

6 D. Liscio  

7 B. Arfsten  
 

 
SECTION 2. This Resolution shall take effect from and after its date of adoption. 

 
DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, 
Texas, on this the 9th day of DECEMBER 2025. 

 
TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 

 
 
 

Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary 



First Name Last Name P&Z BZA Special Notes

Aaron (AJ) Benjamin X Yes

Curtis Green X Yes

Chelsey Smith X Yes
David Collins X Yes
EJ Copeland X Yes
Elizabeth Jones X X Yes
Eileen Resnik X Yes
Jimmy Barker X Yes
James Peck X Yes
Joseph Pedroza X X Yes
Kristie Scarbrough X X Yes
Mike O'Neal X Yes
Scott Hunt X X Yes
Shelia Wooldridge X Yes
Thomas Braun X Yes
William Borrelli X Yes

2026 Board / Commission Applicants Summary









   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. d.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Secretary 
Key Focus Areas: Community Engagement

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution nominating four (4) citizens to serve on the
Board of Zoning Adjustment for two-year terms commencing January 1, 2026, and providing an
effective date.

BACKGROUND:
Historically, the City Council reviews the standing board and commission memberships in the last
quarter of each calendar year.  Notifications were made to the community informing individuals
interested in serving on the Board of Zoning Adjustment of the opportunity to apply.  The application
deadline was set for December 2, 2025.  All current Board members with expiring terms were notified
and were asked to complete and submit a new application indicating their interest in continuing their
service. City Council members have been provided with a complete list of applicants and their
respective applications.

The Board of Zoning Adjustment has four (4) members with terms expiring on December 31, 2025.
 The table below indicates the members' terms and other important information. Board members may
serve up to three (3) consecutive two-year terms. The next term of service begins in January 2026 and
expires in December 2027.
  

Place Current Board Member Previous Nominating
Council Member

Next Nominating
Council Member

4 James Peck N. Craig R. Smith
5 Mike O'Neal M. Willesen M. Willesen
6 John Eaglen D. Liscio D. Liscio
7 Shelia Wooldridge B. Arfsten B. Arfsten

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
Staff seeks Council direction on nominations.

Attachments
Presentation - 2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations 
Resolution - 2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations 
2026 Boards & Commissions Applicant Summary 



2026 Board of Zoning 
Adjustment Nominations

1

December 9, 2025

Valencia Garcia, City Secretary



Background

• Historically, Council reviews boards & commissions memberships to make 
appointments during the last quarter of the calendar year. 

• Notifications were made to the community informing individuals interested in 
serving on the Board of Zoning Adjustment of the opportunity to apply. 

• Current Board members with expiring terms were notified and asked to 
submit a new application to seek re-appointment.

• Application deadline was December 2, 2025. 
• Council was provided with a complete list of applicants and their respective 

applications.

2



2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations

• The Board of Zoning Adjustment has four (4) Board members with terms expiring on 
December 31, 2025.

• Board members may serve up to three (3) consecutive two-year terms. 
• The next term of service begins in January 2026 and expires in December 2027.

Place Current Board Member Previous Nominating 
Council Member

Next Nominating 
Council Member

4 James Peck N. Craig R. Smith

5 Mike O’Neal M. Willesen M. Willesen

6 John Eaglen D. Liscio D. Liscio

7 Shelia Wooldridge B. Arfsten B. Arfsten

3



To make 2026 nominations:

Each nominating Council Member must make an individual motion for their 
nomination:

• Mayor Arfsten
• Mayor Pro-Tempore Willesen
• Council Member Liscio
• Council Member Smith 

Each motion requires a vote of entire Council to pass.

4

2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations



Questions?

5



Town of Addison, Texas 
Resolution No. R25- Page 1 of 1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R25- 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, 
TEXAS NOMINATING FOUR MEMBERS TO SERVE ON THE BOARD OF 
ZONING ADJUSTMENT FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM COMMENCING 
JANUARY 1, 2026 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 2 of the Town of Addison Code of Ordinances, the 
Addison Board of Zoning Adjustment is comprised of seven (7) members serving a two-year 
term; and 

 
WHEREAS, the terms for the current Board of Zoning Adjustment members serving 

in Place 4, Place 5, Place 6, and Place 7 will expire on December 31, 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town solicited applications from all residents of the Town for 
nominations to the Town's Boards and Commissions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 
OF ADDISON, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. The following nominations are made to the Addison Board of Zoning 
Adjustment to serve two-year terms ending on December 31, 2027 or until their successor is 
appointed and duly authorized to serve. 

 
Place # Appt. By: Appointment 

4 R. Smith  

5 M. Willesen  

6 D. Liscio  

7 B. Arfsten  
 

 
SECTION 2. This Resolution shall take effect from and after its date of adoption. 

 
DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, 
Texas, on this the 9th day of DECEMBER 2025. 

 
TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 

 
 
 

Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary 



First Name Last Name P&Z BZA Special Notes

Aaron (AJ) Benjamin X Yes

Curtis Green X Yes

Chelsey Smith X Yes
David Collins X Yes
EJ Copeland X Yes
Elizabeth Jones X X Yes
Eileen Resnik X Yes
Jimmy Barker X Yes
James Peck X Yes
Joseph Pedroza X X Yes
Kristie Scarbrough X X Yes
Mike O'Neal X Yes
Scott Hunt X X Yes
Shelia Wooldridge X Yes
Thomas Braun X Yes
William Borrelli X Yes

2026 Board / Commission Applicants Summary









   
2025 City Council Regular Meeting 6. e.        
Meeting Date: 12/09/2025  
Department: City Secretary 
Key Focus Areas: Financial Health and Organizational Excellence

AGENDA CAPTION:
Present, discuss, and consider action on a Resolution casting the Town of Addison's allocated votes for
a Suburban Cities Representative to the Dallas Central Appraisal District Board of Directors.

BACKGROUND:
The Town has received notice from Dallas Central Appraisal District's (DCAD) Chief Appraiser, Shane
Docherty, that the nomination process for persons to serve on this Board has been completed. By state
law, the Town is required to vote by official ballot resolution. Should the Town choose to abstain from
voting, that must be submitted to Mr. Docherty in writing.

The Dallas Central Appraisal District has five members on its Board of Directors, including Dallas
County Tax Assessor/Collector as an ex-officio member, representing the following groups: 

Dallas County
City of Dallas
Dallas Independent School District 
Suburban Cities
Suburban School District

The nominees for the 2026 DCAD Board of Directors election are as follows: 

Kevin Carbo, Sr.
Johnnae' Cortez
John Cote
Clyde Hairston
Marion Hamilton
Carter Holton
Pauline Medrano
Elishima Myles
Larry Offutt
William David Palmer
Cassandra Phillips
America Rodriguez
Yemi Salau

The Town of Addison has been allocated 10 votes. DCAD calculates each taxing entity's vote allocation
every year based on the previous year's taxing unit percentage of total taxes imposed. Council may
choose to cast all 10 votes for one candidate or may distribute the 10 votes across multiple candidates.
Once all votes are received and counted by the DCAD Chief Appraiser, the two candidates who
received the largest number of cumulative votes will be declared as elected. 

For the 2025 DCAD Board of Directors election, the City Council was allocated 25 votes and voted to
cast them all for Clyde C. Hairston. 

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/322414/6569
https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/322414/6569


RECOMMENDATION
Staff seeks Council direction on distribution of the Town's allocated votes.

Attachments
Presentation - 2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election 
Resolution - 2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election 
2026 DCAD Election Nominee Resumes 
2026 DCAD Election Memo 
2026 DCAD Election Tax Unit Vote Calculation 



2026 DCAD Board of Directors 
Election

1

December 9, 2025
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary



Background

• The Town received notice from Dallas Central Appraisal District’s (DCAD) Chief Appraiser, 
Shane Docherty, that the nomination process for the Board has been completed. 

• The Dallas Central Appraisal District has five members on its Board of Directors, including 
Dallas County Tax Assessor/Collector as an ex-officio member, representing the following 
groups:

• Dallas County
• City of Dallas
• Dallas Independent School District
• Suburban Cities
• Suburban School District

2



Background

The Town has been allocated 10 votes as a taxing entity.

• DCAD calculates each taxing entity's vote allocation every year based on the previous 
year's taxing unit percentage of total taxes imposed. 

• The Town may cast all 10 votes for one candidate or distribute its 10 votes across 
multiple candidates.

• By State law, the Town is required to vote by official ballot resolution. Should the Town 
choose to abstain from voting, that must be submitted in writing.

For the 2025 DCAD Board of Directors election, the City Council was allocated 25 votes and 
voted to cast them all for Clyde C. Hairston.

3

https://addisontx.new.swagit.com/play/322414/6569


2026 DCAD Board of Director Nominees

2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election Nominees

Kevin Carbo Sr. Elishima Myles

Johnnae’ Cortez Larry Offutt

John Cote William David Palmer

Clyde Hairston Cassandra Phillips

Marion Hamilton America Rodriguez

Carter Holton Yemi Salau

Pauline Medrano

4

The nominees for the 2026 DCAD Board of Directors election are as follows:



Questions?

5



Town of Addison, Texas  Page 1 of 1 
Resolution No. R25  

RESOLUTION NO. R25- 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON TEXAS 
CASTING ITS VOTES FOR A MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
DALLAS CENTRAL APPRAISAL DISTRICT; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Dallas Central Appraisal District Chief Appraiser has provided the 
participating taxing units eligible to vote the nominees for the Dallas Central Appraisal District 
Board of Directors in accordance with the Texas Property Tax Code; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE TOWN OF ADDISON: 
 

SECTION 1. That the Town of Addison does hereby cast its votes in accordance with 
the attached ballot, for a member of the Board of Directors of the Dallas Central Appraisal 
District. 

 
SECTION 2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately from and after 

date of adoption. 
 

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the Town of 
Addison, on this the 9th day of DECEMBER 2025. 

 

 
 

 
TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS 

 
 
 

 

Bruce Arfsten, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

 
Valencia Garcia, City Secretary 



4 
 

 
Dallas Central Appriaisal District Offical Ballot 

Election of Members to the Board of Directors 
 

Below are the candidates for appointment to the two (2) positions on the Board, listed 
alphabetically. Please indicate your taxing unit’s vote(s) by entering the number of 
votes to the right of the candidate(s) of choice. 
 

Nominee Name Votes
Kevin Carbo, Sr. 
Johnnae' Cortez
John Cote
Clyde Hairston
Marion Hamilton
Carter Holton
Pauline Medrano
Elishima Myles
Larry Offutt
William David Palmer
Cassandra Phillips
America Rodriguez
Yemi Salau

 
 

 
Submit this official ballot before December 15, 2025, to Chief Appraiser, Shane 
Docherty, via email DcadElections@dcad.org and mail a hardcopy to Shane Docherty, 
Executive Director/Chief Appraiser, 2949 N. Stemmons Fwy., Dallas, Texas 75247. 
 
Please attach this ballot to the resolution passed by your taxing unit authorizing the 
taxing unit vote. 
  



6 
 

 

 



7 
 



8 
 

 
  



9 
 



10 
 

 



11 
 

 



12 
 



13 
 



14 
 



15 
 



16 
 



17 
 



18 
 



19 
 



20 
 



1 
 

 

RDallas Central 
Appraisal District 

 
 
Date: October 28, 2025 
 
To: Bruce Arfsten, Mayor, Town of Addison | barfsten@addisontx.gov 
 Sent Via Email 
 
From: Shane Docherty, Executive Director/Chief Appraiser 
 
Re: Election Ballot for Dallas Central Appraisal District Board of Directors  CORRECTED 

Number of Votes Allocated To: Addison is 10 
 
I have received all timely submitted nominating resolutions to elect members to the Dallas Central Appraisal 
District Board of Directors.  I have prepared the attached sample Resolution and Ballot listing the candidate 
alphabetically according to the first letter of each candidate’s surname, as required by Texas Property Tax 
Code Section 6.03(j).  There are 13 nominees on the official ballot. 
 
The governing body of each taxing unit entitled to vote must cast its votes in an open meeting by resolution 
and submit the resolution ballot to the Dallas CAD Chief Appraiser BEFORE December 15, 2025 (except 
taxing units with 100 or more votes). In addition to your taxing unit’s votes being provided in the Subject line 
of this memo, an attachment has been provided showing the number of votes for each county, city, school 
district and college district that is entitled to vote. 
 
The governing body of each taxing unit entitled to cast at least five percent of the total votes (taxing units with 
100 votes or greater) must determine its vote by resolution adopted at the FIRST or SECOND open meeting 
of the governing body that is held after the date the chief appraiser delivers the ballot to the presiding officer 
of the governing body. The governing body must submit its vote to the chief appraiser not later than the 
THIRD day following the date the resolution is adopted. 
 
Please submit the resolution ballot both by email (DcadElections@dcad.org) as well as hardcopy via mail, 
courier or hand delivery. Taxing units may cast its votes for one candidate or distribute their votes among any 
number of the candidates listed on the attached official ballot (Page 4).  
 
The Chief Appraiser will count the votes and declare the two candidates who received the largest cumulative 
votes as elected and submit the results before December 31, 2025, to each of the taxing units and to the 
candidates. 
 
In addition to the sample resolution, ballot and taxing unit voting entitlement list, are the biographies/resumes 
provided by the candidates and taxing units.    
 
  



2 
 

 
The remaining steps in the appointment process and calendar as prescribed by Texas Property Tax Code 
Section 6.03 is summarized below:  
 

- Before December 15: In accordance with Texas Property Tax Code Section 6.03 (k) each taxing unit 
that is entitled to vote shall determine its vote by resolution and submit the same to the Chief Appraiser. 

 
- Before December 31: In accordance with Texas Property Tax Code Section 6.03 (k) the Chief 
Appraiser will count the votes, declare the two candidates who received the largest cumulative vote 
totals elected, and submit the results to each taxing unit in the District and to the candidates.   
 
- On January 1 the two appointed members take office and begin serving a 4-year term, 2026-2029.   

 
 
If you have any questions about this process, please contact Deputy Chief Appraiser, Cheryl Jordan, via email 
at DcadElections@dcad.org or her direct line, 214-819-2312, or the District’s main number, 214-631-0520. 
 
 
Enclosures/Attachments:  Sample Resolution; Ballot; Voting Entitlement List; Candidate   

Biographies/Resumes 
  



5 
 

 
 

Dallas Central Appraisal District 2025 Calculation of Taxing Unit Votes for Board of Directors Per Texas Property Tax Code Section 6.03(d)

SUPPLEMENTAL #09-2024 EVR DATED 09/4/2024 FOR TAX YEAR 2024 FOR ALL ENTITIES

ENTITY

2024 Taxable 
Value As of       

09-2024 
Supplemental

2024 Tax 
Rate

2024 
Estimated 

Taxes 
Imposed

Taxing Unit 
Percentage 

of Total 
Taxes 

Imposed
1,000 

Multiplier Round

Multiply by 
Number of 

Directors (2)

2025 Taxing Unit 
Voting  

Entitlement

Taxing Unit 
Percentage of Total 

Votes (Yellow 

TPTC 6.03(k-1)

 COUNTYWIDE ENTITIES
 Dallas County $416,443,435,417 0.215500 $897,435,603 10.86226% 108.62262     109 218 218
 Dallas College 426,915,850,533 0.105595 $450,801,792 5.45635% 54.56355       55 110 110
 GRAND TOTAL OF 
COUNTYWIDE $843,359,285,950 $1,348,237,396 16.31862% 163.18616     163 328 328

 CITIES
 Addison $6,473,963,723 0.609822 $39,479,655 0.47785% 4.77849         5 10 10 0.49950%
 Balch Springs 2,058,989,412 0.794629 $16,361,327 0.19803% 1.98032         2 4 4 0.19980%
 Carrollton 10,309,498,743 0.538750 $55,542,424 0.67227% 6.72267         7 14 14 0.69930%
 Cedar Hill 6,537,656,328 0.636455 $41,609,241 0.50362% 5.03624         5 10 10 0.49950%
 Cockrell Hill 233,643,105 0.695086 $1,624,021 0.01966% 0.19657         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Combine 27,826,346 0.350000 $97,392 0.00118% 0.01179         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Coppell 11,461,852,683 0.458632 $52,567,724 0.63626% 6.36262         6 12 12 0.59940%
 Dallas 204,668,252,776 0.704700 $1,442,297,177 17.45708% 174.57085     175 350 350
 DeSoto 7,870,705,758 0.684934 $53,909,140 0.65250% 6.52498         7 14 14 0.69930%
 Duncanville 3,942,984,246 0.614834 $24,242,808 0.29343% 2.93427         3 6 6 0.29970%
 Farmers Branch 9,979,772,798 0.543500 $54,240,065 0.65650% 6.56504         7 14 14 0.69930%
 Ferris 31,223,641 0.534800 $166,984 0.00202% 0.02021         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Garland 26,599,868,293 0.689746 $183,471,528 2.22068% 22.20678       22 44 44 2.19780%
 Glenn Heights 986,790,869 0.565015 $5,575,516 0.06748% 0.67484         1 2 2 0.09990%
 Grand Prairie 14,268,823,626 0.660000 $94,174,236 1.13985% 11.39854       11 22 22 1.09890%
 Grapevine 503,956,111 0.241165 $1,215,366 0.01471% 0.14710         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Highland Park 9,400,619,935 0.208550 $19,604,993 0.23729% 2.37292         2 4 4 0.19980%
 Hutchins 1,556,141,852 0.630082 $9,804,970 0.11868% 1.18676         1 2 2 0.09990%
 Irving 42,014,585,664 0.589100 $247,507,924 2.99575% 29.95753       30 60 60 2.99700%
 Lancaster 6,631,932,334 0.604606 $40,097,061 0.48532% 4.85321         5 10 10 0.49950%
 Lewisville 135,776,953 0.422435 $573,569 0.00694% 0.06942         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Mesquite 15,186,970,290 0.690000 $104,790,095 1.26834% 12.68344       13 26 26 1.29870%
 Ovilla 49,955,648 0.626213 $312,829 0.00379% 0.03786         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Richardson 15,112,495,539 0.542180 $81,936,928 0.99174% 9.91737         10 20 20 0.99900%
 Rowlett 7,985,870,053 0.769691 $61,466,523 0.74397% 7.43970         7 14 14 0.69930%
 Sachse 2,933,206,549 0.650416 $19,078,045 0.23091% 2.30914         2 4 4 0.19980%
 Seagoville 1,454,324,423 0.710932 $10,339,258 0.12514% 1.25143         1 2 2 0.09990%
 Sunnyvale 2,119,907,156 0.453000 $9,603,179 0.11623% 1.16234         1 2 2 0.09990%
 University Park 11,695,176,346 0.229964 $26,894,695 0.32552% 3.25524         3 6 6 0.29970%
 Wilmer 2,373,302,778 0.432143 $10,256,062 0.12414% 1.24136         1 2 2 0.09990%
 Wylie 264,974,797 0.534301 $1,415,763 0.01714% 0.17136         0 0 0 0.00000%
 GRAND TOTAL OF CITIES $424,871,048,775 $2,710,256,498 32.80404% 328.04042     328 654 654

 SCHOOL DISTRICTS

 Carrollton-FB ISD $27,289,093,397 0.983600 $268,415,523 3.24881% 32.48812       32 64 64 3.19680%
 Cedar Hill ISD 6,069,916,206 1.127900 $68,462,585 0.82865% 8.28648         8 16 16 0.79920%
 Coppell ISD 18,652,862,790 1.002600 $187,013,602 2.26355% 22.63550       23 46 46 2.29770%
 Dallas ISD 195,327,449,741 0.997235 $1,947,873,693 23.57641% 235.76415     236 472 472
 DeSoto ISD 5,291,507,331 1.065200 $56,365,136 0.68222% 6.82225         7 14 14 0.69930%
 Duncanville ISD 7,197,014,578 1.105700 $79,577,390 0.96318% 9.63178         10 20 20 0.99900%
 Ferris ISD 64,238,971 1.140800 $732,838 0.00887% 0.08870         0 0 0 0.00000%
 Garland ISD 33,132,872,622 1.050900 $348,193,358 4.21442% 42.14416       42 84 84 4.19580%
 Grand Prairie ISD 13,875,271,518 1.057700 $146,758,747 1.77632% 17.76319       18 36 36 1.79820%
 Grapevine-Colleyville ISD 511,644,897 0.923300 $4,724,017 0.05718% 0.57178         1 2 2 0.09990%
 Highland Park ISD 23,378,147,635 0.866900 $202,665,162 2.45299% 24.52992       25 50 50 2.49750%
 Irving ISD 22,750,859,055 1.015900 $231,125,977 2.79747% 27.97472       28 56 56 2.79720%
 Lancaster ISD 6,109,744,509 1.224400 $74,807,712 0.90545% 9.05448         9 18 18 0.89910%
 Mesquite ISD 15,036,507,363 1.096900 $164,935,449 1.99632% 19.96324       20 40 40 1.99800%
 Richardson ISD 35,774,202,646 1.105200 $395,376,488 4.78551% 47.85505       48 96 96 4.79520%
 Sunnyvale ISD 2,227,430,907 1.186900 $26,437,377 0.31999% 3.19989         3 6 6 0.29970%
GRAND TOTAL OF ISD'S $412,688,764,166 $4,203,465,055 50.87734% 508.77341     509 1,020            1,020                      
GRAND TOTAL $8,261,958,949 100.00000% 1,000.00000   1,000   2,002            2,002                      100.00%

Per TPTC 6.03 (k-1) TU with 5% or greater:

6.03(k-1) This subsection applies only to an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 120,000 or more. The governing body of each taxing unit entitled to cast at least five percent of 
the total votes must determine its vote by resolution adopted at the first or second open meeting of the governing body that is held after the date the chief appraiser delivers the ballot to the presiding 
officer of the governing body. The governing body must submit its vote to the chief appraiser not later than the third day following the date the resolution is adopted.  


	Agenda
	AI 6180 Council Questions and Answers
	AI 6110 Closed Session - City Manager Evaluation
	AI 6191 Project Rushmore
	AI 6181 PD Ordinances Updates
	       ATT_Presentation - PD Ordinance Updates
	PD Ordinances Updates
	1. Repeal of Taxicab Ordinance
	2. Updated Sleeping in Public Ordinance
	3. New Ordinance – Parking at PD / Courts and FS #1
	Direction Requested and Next Steps
	Slide Number 6

	AI 6190 2026 City Council Events Calendar
	       ATT_Presentation - 2026 City Council Calendar
	Slide Number 1
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	2026 City Council Calendar	
	Slide Number 14

	       ATT_2026 City Council Calendar
	AI 6186 City Council Rules & Procedures
	       ATT_Presentation - City Council Rules and Procedures
	City Council Rules and Procedures
	Background 
	Summary
	Summary
	Summary
	Next Steps
	Slide Number 7

	       ATT_City Council Rules and Procedures
	R24-025.pdf
	Resolution - City Council Rules and Procedures.pdf
	Resolution - City Council Rules and Procedures.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. R24-_______
	A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS AMENDING AND APPROVING THE CITY COUNCIL'S PROCEDURES AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.
	WHEREAS, the City Council periodically reviews the Council procedures;
	WHEREAS, on March 5, 2024, the City Council reviewed the Council Procedures and recommended certain amendments; and
	WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Council Procedures should be amended and adopted.
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS:
	SECTION 1. The Town of Addison Council Procedures attached hereto as Exhibit A are hereby approved as amended.
	SECTION 2. This Resolution shall take effect from and after its date of adoption.
	DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the Town of Addison, Texas, on this the 26th day of MARCH, 2024.
	By: _____________________________
	Bruce Arfsten, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	____________________________________
	Valencia Garcia, Interim City Secretary


	Council Rules & Procedures - FINAL edits

	20240412165131138.pdf

	AI 6182 City Manager's Announcements
	AI 6183 Employee Recognition
	AI 6184 2025 Citizens Academy Recognition
	AI 6185 Salvation Army of Dallas County Red Kettle Campaign Proclamation
	AI 6179 Minutes - November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting
	       ATT_Minutes - November 18, 2025 Regular City Council Meeting
	WORK SESSION
	COUNCIL MEETING

	AI 6192 ED Grant Agreement - LMR II Quorum Plaza, LLC
	       ATT_Resolution - LMI Quorum II ED Grant Agreement
	Addison - Resolution Auth 380 Grant to Quorum II Plaza.pdf
	Quorum II Plaza Grant Agreement (final 12.2.2025 clean)PDF.pdf
	SECTION 9. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.
	Marketing Participation Checklist
	Joint Press Releases
	Logo and Name Usage
	Video Testimonials
	Print Testimonials
	Town Website Feature
	Participation in Economic Development Events
	Social Media Collaborations
	Community Engagement Projects
	Use of Company’s Name in Town Publications



	Scanned from a Xerox Multifunction Printer.pdf

	AI 6193 Addison Hangars Project Financing Public Hearing
	       ATT_Presentation - Addison Hangars Project Financing
	Addison Hangars Proposed	Project Financing
	Background
	Background – Sky Harbour Corporation
	Proposal
	Proposed Phase II Redevelopment
	Proposed Development Financing
	Proposed Development Financing
	Proposed Development Financing
	Recommendation
	Questions?

	       ATT_Resolution - Addison Hangars Project Financing
	TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS
	ATTEST:

	       ATT_Property Location
	AI 6174 Alt Sign Design - Jefferson Aero (MR2025-02)
	       ATT_MR2025-02 - Presentation 
	Slide 1: Jefferson Aero Alternative Sign Design  (MR2025-02)
	Slide 2: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero
	Slide 3: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero
	Slide 4: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero
	Slide 5: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero
	Slide 6: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero
	Slide 7: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero
	Slide 8: Case MR2025-02 Jefferson Aero

	       ATT_MR2025-02 - Ordinance
	       ATT_MR2025-02 - Plans
	AI 6175 Alt Sign Design - Quorum II (MR2025-03)
	       ATT_MR2025-03 - Presentation
	Slide 1: Quorum II Alternative Sign Design  (MR2025-03)
	Slide 2: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 3: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 4: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 5: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 6: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 7: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 8: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II
	Slide 9: Case MR2025-03 Quorum II

	       ATT_MR2025-03 - Ordinance
	       ATT_MR2025-03 - Plans
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6

	AI 6187 2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations
	       ATT_Presentation - 2026 Planning and Zoning Commission Nominations
	2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations
	Background
	2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations
	2026 Planning & Zoning Commission Nominations
	Slide Number 5

	       ATT_Resolution - 2026 Planning and Zoning Commission Nominations
	RESOLUTION NO. R25-
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS:
	TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS
	ATTEST:

	       ATT_2026 Boards and Commissions Applicant Summary
	AI 6188 2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations
	       ATT_Presentation - 2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations
	2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations
	Background
	2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations
	2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations
	Slide Number 5

	       ATT_Resolution - 2026 Board of Zoning Adjustment Nominations
	RESOLUTION NO. R25-
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS:
	TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS
	ATTEST:

	       ATT_2026 Boards and Commissions Applicant Summary
	AI 6189 DCAD Board of Directors Election
	       ATT_Presentation - 2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election
	2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election
	Background
	Background
	2026 DCAD Board of Director Nominees
	Slide Number 5

	       ATT_Resolution - 2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election
	Resolution - 2026 DCAD Board of Directors Election.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. R25-
	A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON TEXAS CASTING ITS VOTES FOR A MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE DALLAS CENTRAL APPRAISAL DISTRICT; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF ADDISON:

	TOWN OF ADDISON, TEXAS
	ATTEST:

	Dallas CAD Board Election Appointment Emails (002).pdf

	       ATT_2026 DCAD Election Nominee Resumes
	       ATT_2026 DCAD Election Memo
	       ATT_2026 DCAD Election Tax Unit Vote Calculation



